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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.
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Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (formerly known as Yunbo Digital Synergy
Group Limited) (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”’, which together with its
subsidiaries, is referred to as the “Group”) continued to capitalise on the
rapid growth in China’s digital and mobile payments during the year ended
31 March 2018 (the “Reporting Period”) by pressing ahead with its
strategy for building up an ecosystem of online/offline digital payments.

Since 2015, the Group has shifted its focus to the business of developing
systems and solutions for online/offline digital payments. In this line of
business, the Group made progress in a number of projects and started
new ones during the Reporting Period to develop comprehensive, online
shopping platforms, digital payment system for public utilities and a
technology for unified communications. These three elements form an
ecosystem of online/offline digital payments that can make it much easier
for people to order and pay for services and goods.

The efforts paid off as the Group recorded a 72% increase in revenue from
the business of developing systems and solutions for online/offline digital
payments during the Reporting Period. The surge in turnover from this line
of business offset part of the substantial decline in revenue from the
business of distributing residential gateway products which had been
suffering some setbacks because the industry was overcrowded and
intensely competitive and the Group did not win a tender for the supply of
Ethernet passive optical network (“E-PON") equipment and gigabit passive
optical network (“G-PON") equipment to China Telecom Corporation
Limited (FFBIEZ 7D AR A 7)) (‘China Telecom”) back in the year of
2015. Since then, the Group's business of distributing residential gateway
products had shrunk considerably and merely continued to fulfil the
remaining orders for E-PON and G-PON equipment that had been
previously placed with it.

As a way to foster growth drivers and to mitigate the impact of the
shrinking business of distributing residential gateway products, the Group
has been actively forming partnerships with companies which are engaged
in various types of businesses to develop systems and solutions for online/
offline digital payments. Among such projects undertaken are:
development and construction of a unified payment system and platform
of China Mobile (Shenzhen) Company Limited* (FR E# 8) GEII) BE A
7)) (“China Mobile Shenzhen”), and the provision of Product Business
Operation Support Systems* (‘PBOSS”) solution of the Internet of Things
for monitoring and managing such system and platform; development of
software for a comprehensive payment platform of a leading property
developer in China; partnership with Shanghai China Telecom Bestpay
E-commerce Ltd* (KRB FREBFER AR L/F5 2 7)) (‘'Shanghai CT
E-commerce”) to construct an e-commerce network platform for payment
and clearing, and to install point-of-sale (“POS”) terminals; operation,
maintenance and repair of China Mobile Communications Corporation’s
instant messaging and social media platform Fetion (7R{Z); and
cooperation with Shanghai Huateng Software Systems Co,, Ltd. (/85
B4 R £ B R 2 7)) (‘Shanghai Huateng’) in provision of technical
support to and localisation of an automatic system for vending and
checking tickets of an intercity railway between Qingdao and Haiyang at
the section in Oceantec Valley (B2 @1 & 4%/ 0\ & ) in Qingdao.
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Executive Director’s Statement

During the Reporting Period, the Group completed some phases of these
projects or made significant progress in them. It also won some contracts
to undertake subsequent phases of such projects and to start other new
projects.

For instance, the Group further developed the comprehensive, online
shopping platforms with a built-in payment system through its wholly-
owned subsidiary Guangzhou YBDS IT Co,, Ltd* (B HE 8RR AR
‘AA]) (“Guangzhou YBDS'). Guangzhou YBDS has signed an agreement
over strategic cooperation with a leading property developer and Shanghai
CT E-commerce to enable the digitisation of consumption points, gift
cards, coupons and other membership services. The cooperation is aimed
at enhancing the users’ experience of ordering for a comprehensive range
of services and products on that property developer’s online platform at
the commercial and residential properties that it has developed. This will
enable the property developer to diversify into e-commerce. Guangzhou
YBDS is now negotiating with that property developer about the provision
of technical support services for the latter in the construction of the second
phase of its comprehensive, online shopping platforms.

The Group also intends to develop digital systems that enable citizens to
pay for public utilities. It has started off this line of business by undertaking
the construction of a smart traffic platform in Urumgqi, Xinjiang that
comprises systems for a traffic control centre, the comprehensive
monitoring of the traffic, traffic signal control and communication network
as well as technical support for the security of such systems. The Group
plans to replicate the smart traffic platform and sell it to other provinces in
China. The Group had also undertaken another project of providing an
information technology solution for digital payments for public
transportation in cooperation with Shanghai Huateng. The two parties will
jointly provide technical support to and localise an automatic system for
vending and checking tickets of an intercity railway between Qingdao and
Haiyang at the section in Oceantec Valley in Qingdao. The project will
continue in the financial year ending 31 March 2019.

As to its endeavor in the work on the unified payment platform of China
Mobile Shenzhen, the Group signed an agreement in November 2017 to
construct the fifth phase of the project.

Regarding the project of operation, maintenance and repair of Fetion,
Guangzhou YBDS is now negotiating with China Mobile Communications
Corporation about the second phase of the project.
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To enhance its technological capability to develop systems and solutions
for online/offline digital and mobile payments, the Group, through its
indirect, wholly owned subsidiary, Shenzhen YBDS Information System
Services Co, Ltd* (RYIEE(E B RZF R B R A F)) (‘Shenzhen YBDS
System”), entered into two sale and purchase agreements with Dynamic
Telecom Limited (B)AE AR A F]) (‘Dynamic Telecom’) and
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co,, Ltd* (R {E48%
REBMR AR (formerly known as Shenzhen Quantum Certification Co,,
Ld* CRYITT & FRFBAMRAF) (‘CITIC Cyber Security’) respectively
on 28 February 2018 to increase its equity stake in Shenzhen Anxin
Certification System Co., Ltd.* ORI T L ERERGAER QA
("Shenzhen Anxin") (formerly known as Shenzhen Qianhai YBDS IT Co.,
Ltd* (RIIT BI/BEEE SRR A R)) to 100%. Shenzhen Anxin wil
carry out research and development of a large-scale database system,
system integration and other value-added technology services, and the
development of a comprehensive payment system platform.

On 28 February 2018, Shenzhen Anxin entered into a memorandum of
understanding with the intention of acquiring a 70% equity interest in
CITIC Cyber Security from Shenzhen Quantum Technology Information Co,,
Ltd.* CRINTT 2 F R EBRAF]) (the "Vendor”). CITIC Cyber
Security’s main businesses are the provision of authentication services in
connection with network electronic identities, developing systems of elD
issuance and authentication services with SIM cards as their carriers,
launching platforms which serve for internet electronic identity
authentications, and providing identity authentication and behavior
verification services for holders of the SIMelD card and online applications.
The Group decided to acquire from each of Dynamic Telecom and CITIC
Cyber Security their equity interests in Shenzhen Anxin, which became
wholly owned by the Company again. It will also negotiate with the Vendor
for Shenzhen Anxin's proposed acquisition of a 70% equity interest in CITIC
Cyber Security.

All these developments and initiatives will serve as the solid foundations
for the Group's business in the future. It will continue to seek opportunities
to cooperate with other companies engaged in various types of businesses
in developing an ecosystem of the online/offline digital payments.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude to the board
(the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”), the employees and the
business partners. We will continue to work as a cohesive group for a
brighter future.

Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 13 June 2018
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"), transaction value of digital
payments which comprised digital commerce and mobile POS payments,
rose by approximately 29.46% to approximately US$819.925 billion in 2017
from approximately US$633.336 billion in 2016, according to Statista, an
online statistics, market research and business intelligence portal.
Meanwhile, the value of mobile payment transactions in the PRC surged by
approximately 155% to RMB150 trillion in 2017 from approximately
RMB58.8 trillion in 2016. The uptrend was accelerated by the rising market
penetration of the smartphone and the drives of the country’s leading
e-commerce and internet conglomerates, Alibaba Group Holding Limited
and Tencent Holdings Limited, for market dominance (Sources: * T {526 :
FEBREZTHRER1508E — ARM (people.cn) quoting 1L X H#R,
dated 31 January 2018; “China pulls further ahead of US in mobile
payments with record US$12.8 trillion in transactions” — South China
Morning Post, dated 20 February, 2018; and “The Mobile Payments Race:
Why China is Leading the Pack — for Now” — the Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania, dated 17 January, 2018). The PRC has already
been far ahead of such a developed country as the United States in terms
of the value of mobile payment transactions. The total mobile payment
transactions in the United States were estimated to be US$49.3 billion in
2017, reported South China Morning Post citing the data from eMarketer, a
market research company focusing on digital marketing, media and
commerce. Adding impetus to the trend are some public utilities, property
developers and retail companies which have been taking efforts to build,
expand or enhance systems for online/offline digital payments.

The PRC's rapidly growing market for digital payments indicates huge
potential for growth in the demand for hardware, software, applications,
systems and solutions that enable and support such a convenient means
of payments.

On the other hand, the country’s market for residential gateway products
was intensely competitive. The market was crowded with numerous
distributors of such devices, namely E-PON equipment and G-PON
equipment, so it was very difficult to make a profit in it.

iscussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

To tap the huge potential of the PRC's rapidly growing market for digital
payments, Quantum Thinking Limited has shifted its focus to the business
of developing systems and solutions for online/offline digital payments
since 2015. It has been pursuing the strategy for building up an ecosystem
of online/offline digital payments in which the comprehensive, online
shopping platforms are connected to the digital payment system for public
utilities with a technology for unified communications. Therefore, the
Group has been stepping up efforts to form partnerships with various
telecommunications and information technology companies to jointly
develop or supply systems and solutions for online/offline digital
payments.

For the Reporting Period, the Group's business of developing systems and
solutions for online/offline digital payments recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$13,796,000, up by 72% from approximately
HK$8,022,000 for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the “Previous Period”).

On the other hand, the fierce competition in the overcrowded market for
the distribution of E-PON and G-PON equipment had severely weighed on
the bottom line of the industry players. Moreover, the Group's failure to win
a tender for the supply of E-PON and G-PON equipment to China Telecom
in Beijing also led to a significant decline in revenue from this line of
business. Revenue from the Group's business of distributing residential
gateway products plunged to approximately HK$3,462,000 for the
Reporting Period from approximately HK$9,746,000 for the Previous Period.
To cope with the situation, the Group had shifted its focus to the business
of developing systems and solutions for online/offline digital payments
although it continued to fulfil the remaining orders that had been
previously placed with it for supplying E-PON and G-PON equipment.

Overall, the Group's turnover decreased by approximately 40% to
approximately HK$17,258,000 for the Reporting Period as the surge in
revenue from the higher-margin business of developing systems and
solutions for online/offline digital payments offset part of the steep decline
in revenue from the lower-margin business of distributing residential
gateway products. This, coupled with impairment loss of approximately
HKS$4,111,000, loss on written-off of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$375,000 for the Reporting Period in contrast to the
impairment loss of approximately HK$23,280,000, and loss on written-off of
inventories of approximately HK$11,712,000 for the Previous Period, the
substantial decrease in costs due to the much smaller scale of the business
of distributing residential gateway products, helped to narrow the loss
attributable to the owners of the Company (including its continuing and
discontinued operations) to approximately HK$8,519,000 for the Reporting
Period from approximately HK$39,606,000 for the Previous Period.
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iscussion and Analysis

o i

Business of developing systems and solutions for
online/offline digital payments

During the Reporting Period, the Group made progress in a number of
ongoing projects and entered into agreements with various business
partners over new projects as it continued to build up its business of
developing systems and solutions for online/offline digital payments. It has
decided to take things to the next level by pursuing the strategy for
building up an ecosystem of online/offline digital payments in which the
comprehensive, online shopping platforms are connected to the digital
payment system for public utilities with a technology for unified
communications.

1.  Cooperation with China Mobile Shenzhen — Development
and construction of unified payment system and platform,
and the provision of PBOSS solution of the Internet of Things
for monitoring and managing such system and platform

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Guangzhou
YBDS, cooperated with China Mobile Shenzhen in developing and
constructing unified payment system and platform. The system and
platform enable mobile wallet users to make mobile payments such
as that of phone bills and to redeem credit points and gift cards. The
project was in the fourth phase during the Reporting Period. The
Group also provided repair and maintenance services for such
system. In addition, the Group provided the Internet of Things PBOSS
solution for monitoring and managing such system, and the work
was in the second phase during the Reporting Period. The Group
derived an after-tax income of approximately RMB1,926,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,270,000) from its cooperation
with and provision of services and solution for China Mobile
Shenzhen during the Reporting Period.

As a pivotal supplier of systems and solutions for payment systems
in PRC, Guangzhou YBDS intends to replicate the unified payment
system and platform and then sell them to other units and/or
subsidiaries of China Mobile Ltd. (stock code: 941) in 31 provinces in
the PRC.
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Partnership with Shanghai CT E-commerce Ltd. —
Construction of an e-commerce network platform for
payment and clearing, and installation of POS terminals

Guangzhou YBDS continued its partnership with Shanghai CT
E-commerce to construct an e-commerce network platform for
payment and clearing, and to install and lease out POS terminals at
more than 100 outlets of a retail chain in Beijing. During the
Reporting Period, Guangzhou YBDS and Shanghai CT E-commerce
extended their market coverage to the surrounding areas of Beijing.
They plan to install and lease out the POS terminals at the outlets of
the businesses in other service industries such as a convenience
store chain.

Development of software for a comprehensive payment
platform of a leading property developer in the PRC

In previous year, Guangzhou YBDS had signed an agreement to
develop software for the first phase of the construction of a
comprehensive payment platform of a leading property developer
in the PRC for the property developer's commercial properties and
e-commerce. The platform will enable the club members or users of
the property developer's commercial properties to digitise
consumption points, gift cards, coupons and other membership
services so as to create a delightful experience of faster, smoother
shopping. In the fourth quarter of the Reporting Period, Shenzhen
YBDS IT Co., Ltd* (RYITTEIHE BRHEBRAF) (‘Shenzhen
YBDS"), the Company's another indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary,
has become the vendor in this project. The project undertaken
under the agreement was completed in March 2018. During the
Reporting Period, the project generated an after-tax income of
approximately RMB6,274,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,398,000) for the Group. Shenzhen YBDS will assist that property
developer in leveraging its traditional real estate business as a
springboard to internet-enabled businesses. It will do so by
establishing an e-commerce platform on which the developer can
provide comprehensive online services that can complement its
offline services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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4. Operation, maintenance and repair of China Mobile
Communications Corporation’s instant messaging and social
media platform Fetion ({5 )

Guangzhou YBDS signed an agreement on 16 June 2016 to operate,
maintain and repair China Mobile Communications Corporation’s
instant messaging and social media platform Fetion. Guangzhou
YBDS recorded an after-tax income of approximately RMB1,519,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,791,000) from the project during
the Reporting Period. Fetion had been upgraded through integrated
communications, that is, through the integration of communications
services and information technology services. The first phase of the
project was completed during the Reporting Period.

5. Cooperation with Shanghai Huateng — Provision of technical
support and localisation of an automatic system for vending
and checking tickets of an intercity railway between Qingdao
and Haiyang at the section in Oceantec Valley (EE &5 & #% /0
&) in Qingdao
In 2015, the Company, through its indirect subsidiary, Hua Strong
Network Science and Technology Limited Company* (2 X 48 4% &t
# B BR A 7)), signed an agreement to cooperate with Shanghai
Huateng in the provision of technical support and localisation of an
automatic system for vending and checking tickets of an intercity
railway between Qingdao and Haiyang cities at the section in
Oceantec Valley (B5 £2 B & #z 0 [&) in Qingdao. As at 31 March
2018, approximately 20% of the project had been completed. The
Group earned an after-tax income of approximately RMB1,887,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,225,000) during the Reporting
Period.

Business of distributing residential gateway products

It has been difficult to make decent profit in the PRC's overcrowded,
intensely competitive industry of distributing residential gateway products.
Back in the year of 2015, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary China
Mobile Payment Technology Group Company Limited (“China Mobile
Payment’) did not win any tenders for the supply of E-PON and G-PON
equipment to China Telecom. The situation resulted in substantial
decreases in both the sales volume and the average selling price of the
equipment, hence a steep decline in revenue from the Group’s business of
distributing residential gateway products in subsequent financial years. For
the Reporting Period, revenue from this line of business dropped to
approximately HKS$3,462,000 from approximately HK$9,746,000 for the
Previous Period.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

To ensure that the Company is financially stable with sufficient financial
resources to continue the development of its proposed projects, the
Company had on 5 August 2013, raised net proceeds of approximately
HKS$100 million through a subscription (the “Subscription”). Immediately
after the completion of the Subscription, Happy On held 987,888,771
shares of the Company, representing approximately 72.83% of the total
issued share capital of the Company.

As stipulated in the circular of the Company dated 11 July 2013, such
proceeds were to be applied in the following manner:

(i approximately HK$30,000,000 will be used to pay up the remaining
registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS and Beijing YBDS IT Co., Ltd*
(At R EHE SR AR A 7)) (‘Beijing YBDS”);

(i) approximately HK$50,000,000 will be used as further investment for
contribution towards the total investment amounts of Guangzhou
YBDS and Beijing YBDS; and

(i) the remaining balance as general working capital of the Company.

The Company had previously applied approximately HK$9,400,000 (or
approximately RMB7,350,000) and approximately HK$5,500,000 (or
approximately RMB4,330,000) of the proceeds to pay up the remaining
initial registered capital of RMB20,000,000 and increased registered capital
of RMB20,000,000 of Guangzhou YBDS, respectively. During the year ended
31 March 2015, the Company had applied approximately HK$ 19,785,000 (or
approximately RMB15,670,000) of the proceeds to pay up the outstanding
remaining increased registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS.

At the time of the Subscription, only 20% of the registered capital or RMB4
million of Beijing YBDS has been paid up with the remaining 80% or RMB16
million due to be paid on or before 18 December 2014. The Company had
intended to apply to the Bureau of Foreign Trade and Economic
Cooperation of Beijing Municipality (3t R TT ¥ INE S & EEER) to
increase the registered capital of Beijing YBDS from RMB20 million to
RMB40 million and its total investment from RMB40 million to RMB80
million. A sum of approximately HK$45.5 million from the proceeds of the
Subscription was earmarked for paying up the initial registered capital and
increased registered capital of Beijing YBDS (the “Capital Increase”). The
intent of the Capital Increase was to enable the Group’s subsidiaries to
meet the minimum capital threshold requirement when submitting bids
for proposed projects offered by the relevant telecommunications service
providers in the PRC.
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Given the Company has acquired China Mobile Payment on 23 December
2014, a holding company that owns a subsidiary with the aforesaid
threshold requirement for bids submission, this corporate action is no
longer deemed to be necessary. The Company has already commenced
the process of deregistration of Beijing YBDS. De-registration has entered
into the final stage and is pending for the approval of PRC authority.

Moreover, the Company intends to apply the aforesaid earmarked
proceeds of approximately HK$45.5 million for new potential projects and
for general working capital purposes.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$17,258,000, representing a decrease of approximately 40% when
compared with the Previous Period (form continuing operations) of
approximately HK$28,561,000.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period
(including continuing and discontinued operations) was approximately
HK$8,519,000 compared with loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$39,606,000 for the Previous Period.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments

During the Reporting Period, when compared with the Previous Period,
revenue generated from hardware sales (from continuing operations)
decreased by approximately 83%, while revenue from services (from
continuing operations) increased by approximately 72%.

Geographical segments

The provision of system development services and other value-added
technical consultation services and hardware-related business mainly
caters for the PRC market. Revenue from the Hong Kong segment
represented nil of the total revenue (2017: nil).

ENARNRR_E—NFF+ A= +=-HEWKE
P (RN (B L lUR R E M SR EE AR 2 T
BRBZIEBRAR]) WL ETHE BB ALY
T ANFIEAEMBI RBEEEERZRER
TR EEARKBE R B FT RBEE -

b KRB EEBIER LM EERSRELY
455000008 TTRFTBEBE R —REBEELHR -

B 7 B
RS HIE - NEBSEUE417,2580008 7T
B E—HIR CR B ELEZET) #928,561,000 48T
B #9400 o

REREEE - ARRHEAAREEE(REFER
B IRE 7 ¥E7) #9/585190008 7T » 1 £—Hf
MR AR A REAR AL EE 4396060008 7T

2 EEH

%08

R HARD - R 2 s R B E)
B —HRR D HY83% - T AR 2 Wk (R
1T Bt — BRI A4 72% -

# & 5 &

R £ 2% B B AR A5 e Lt 38 (B A BB S AR 745 A B
BHERBEEBIZRRTEMSHENX - #Blhamd
WEREBEED R 2 WG (ZF—LF ) -



FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2018, the shareholders’ funds of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$64,654,000. Current assets were approximately
HKS$189,426,000, mainly comprising cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$76,790,000 and trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$46,208,000. Current liabilities mainly comprised trade
and other payables of approximately HK$141,054,000. The net asset value
per share was approximately HK$0.037. The Group's gearing ratio,
expressed as a percentage of bank borrowings and longterm debts over
total equity, was nil. The liquidity ratio of the Group, determined as a ratio
of current assets over current liabilities, was 1.34:1 (as at 31 March 2017:
1.43:1).

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group was only exposed to limited
currency exchange rate fluctuation risks as virtually all of the Group's
monetary assets and liabilities were denominated in Hong Kong dollars as
it conducts its business transactions principally in this currency. The
currency exchange rate risk of the Group is therefore considered to be
immaterial, and the Group did not engage in any hedging activity.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had operating lease commitments in
respect of rented premises and equipment of approximately HK$182,000
(2017: HKS184,000). As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group had no
significant capital commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group had no charges on the Group’s
assets.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had 52 employees (including 5 Directors)
(2017: 72 employees (including 5 Directors)). The total remuneration paid
to employees, including Directors, for the year ended 31 March 2018 was
approximately HK$8,430,000 (2017: HK$20,045,000). Remuneration is
determined by reference to market terms and the performance,
qualification and experience of each individual employee. Annual year-end
double pay is paid based on each individual employee’s performance as
recognition of and reward for their contributions. Other benefits accruing
to the employees include contributions made to statutory mandatory
provident fund scheme and a group medical scheme. We also subsidise
our employees for pursuing further studies in related fields.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2018, save as disclosed in the “Future
prospect and plans for material investments or acquisition of capital assets”
section below, the Group had no significant investments.

FUTURE PROSPECT AND PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR ACQUISITION OF CAPITAL
ASSETS

In the PRC, the popularity with digital and mobile payments has surged on
the back of the increasing market penetration of the smartphone and
aggressive business expansion of e-commerce and internet
conglomerates. The momentum of these developments is expected to
continue. This can translate into plentiful business opportunities for
information technology solution providers who can enable and support
systems for digital and mobile payments.

The Group has already geared up to the bright prospect as it has been
cooperating with various firms such as telecommunications companies, an
e-commerce technology firm, more than 100 outlets of a retail chain, a
leading property developer and a state-owned high-tech company in
developing and operating systems and solutions for online/offline digital
payments.

The business of developing systems and solutions for online/offline digital
payments is the Group’s growth driver. To take things to a whole new level,
the Group has already mapped out a strategy for building up an ecosystem
of online/offline digital payments in which the comprehensive, online
shopping platforms are connected to the digital payment system for public
utilities with a technology for unified communications. Working towards
this goal, the Group built on its cooperation with various business partners
by making progress in ongoing projects and by starting new ones during
the year.
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To step up its work on the comprehensive, online shopping platforms with
a built-in payment system, the Group, through its wholly-owned subsidiary
Guangzhou YBDS, has signed an agreement over strategic cooperation
with a leading property developer and Shanghai CT E-commerce to enable
the digitisation of consumption points, gift cards, coupons and other
membership services. The cooperation is aimed at enhancing the users’
experience of ordering for a comprehensive range of services and products
on that property developer’s online platform at the commercial and
residential properties that it has developed. This will enable the property
developer to diversify into e-commerce. Guangzhou YBDS will continue to
work on the first phase of this project in the financial year ending 31 March
2019. Guangzhou YBDS is now negotiating with that property developer
about the provision of technical support services for the latter in the
construction of the second phase of its comprehensive, online shopping
platforms.

The Group also intends to develop digital systems that enable citizens to
pay for public utilities, including the services of electricity, natural gas,
water, sewage, telephone and transportation, etc. The Group has started
off this line of business by undertaking the construction of a smart traffic
platform in Urumgqi, Xinjiang that comprises systems for a traffic control
centre, the comprehensive monitoring of the traffic, traffic signal control
and communication network as well as technical support for the security
of such systems. The Group plans to replicate the smart traffic platform and
sell it to other provinces in the PRC. The Group had also undertaken
another project of providing an information technology solution for digital
payments for public transportation — cooperation with Shanghai Huateng
in provision of technical support and localisation of an automatic system
for vending and checking tickets of an intercity railway between Qingdao
and Haiyang at the section in Oceantec Valley in Qingdao. The project will
continue in the financial year ending 31 March 2019.

In November 2017, the Group signed an agreement to construct the fifth
phase of the unified payment platform of China Mobile Shenzhen,
furthering their cooperation in that area.

As to the project of operation, maintenance and repair of Fetion,

Guangzhou YBDS is now negotiating with China Mobile Communications
Corporation about the second phase of the project.
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d Analysis

To enhance its technological capability to develop systems and solutions
for online/offline digital and mobile payments, the Group, through its
indirect, wholly owned subsidiary, Shenzhen YBDS System, entered into
two sale and purchase agreements with Dynamic Telecom and CITIC Cyber
Security, respectively, on 28 February 2018 to increase its equity stake in
Shenzhen Anxin to 100%. Shenzhen Anxin will carry out research and
development of a large-scale database system, system integration and
other value-added technology services, and the development of a
comprehensive payment system platform.

On 28 February 2018, Shenzhen Anxin and the Vendor entered into a
memorandum of understanding, pursuant to which Shenzhen Anxin
intended to purchase and the Vendor intended to sell 70% of the entire
equity interest in CITIC Cyber Security. Investing in CITIC Cyber Security,
whose main business involves the provision of authentication services in
connection with network electronic identities, developing systems of elD
issuance and authentication services with SIM cards as their carriers,
launching platforms which serve for internet electronic identity
authentications, and provision of identity authentication and behavior
verification services for holders of the SIMelD card and online applications,
would serve as an opportunity for the Group to develop its business in this
area by utilising the network and resources of CITIC Cyber Security.
Therefore, the Group decided to acquire from each of Dynamic Telecom
and CITIC Cyber Security, for a consideration of RMB1.00 each, their equity
interests in Shenzhen Anxin, which became wholly owned by the
Company again, and to negotiate with the Vendor for Shenzhen Anxin’s
proposed acquisition of 70% of the entire equity interest in CITIC Cyber
Security. The Company also intends to further increase the registered
capital of Shenzhen Anxin to RMB50,000,000 in the future so as to support
its operation and research and development of a large-scale database
system and in other relevant areas.

All these developments will serve as the solid foundations for the Group's
business in the future. It will continue to explore opportunities to
cooperate with other companies engaged in various types of businesses in
developing an ecosystem of the online/offline digital payments.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company (2018 Annual
General Meeting") will be held on Monday, 30 July 2018 at 2:00 p.m. at
Regus Conference Centre, 35/F, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2018 Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on
Monday, 30 July 2018, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 25 July 2018 to Monday, 30 July 2018, both dates
inclusive. During this period, no transfer of shares of the Company will be
effected. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the aforesaid meeting, all
share certificates with completed transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 24 July 2018.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 16 November 2017, the English name of
the Company has been changed from “Yunbo Digital Synergy Group
Limited” to “Quantum Thinking Limited” and the Chinese name "&£ F B 4
BBR/AF]" has been adopted as the new dual foreign name of the
Company in place of its former Chinese name "ESE X EEHRE N F),
both with effect from 16 November 2017.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions (“Code Provisions”) set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the Code
Provisions set out in the Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2018
except for the deviations from Code Provisions A.1.8 and A.2.1 of the Code
as explained as follows:

Code Provision A.1.8

Code Provision A.1.8 stipulates that the Company should arrange
appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its directors.

During the reporting period, the Board considered that under the current
close management situation of the Group and business scale, the
possibility of actual litigation against the Directors is very low. The
Company will consider reviewing various insurance cover proposals and
will make such an arrangement as appropriate.

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiaogi and Mr. Ho Yeung are
focused on evaluating new potential business and investment
opportunities and formulating and implementing business strategies to
enhance the revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new
chairman and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable
candidates have been identified for such purpose.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Company's corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the Code.

The Board conducted reviews of the system of internal controls of the
Group to ensure an effective and adequate internal controls system is in
place. The Board also convened meetings to discuss financial, operational
and risk management controls.
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Code Provision C.2

The Board has conducted a review of its risk management and internal
control systems under Code Provision C.2 of Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rule.

The Board has engaged independent consultants to execute the internal
audit and risk management functions. The Board reviews risk management
and internal control systems on an annual basis and when necessary.

A review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems has been conducted and the Company considers them effective
and adequate during the period under review.

However, an issue arose on 1 June 2017 when Mr. Ho Yeung (“Mr. Ho")
was appointed as an executive Director that the Company failed to
maintain a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued
share capital of the Company as required under the GEM Listing Rules due
to inadvertent oversight. On 6 July 2017, Mr. Ho had completed the
disposal of an aggregate of 25,618,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 1.889% of the total issued share capital of the
Company to an independent third party (the “Disposal’). Immediately
upon completion of the Disposal, 349,895,729 ordinary shares of the
Company, representing approximately 25.799% of the total issued share
capital of the Company, were held by the public. Accordingly, the
minimum public float of 25% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as required under Rule 11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules has
been restored. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 1 June 2017, 13 June 2017 and 10 July 2017.

The management of the Company will take measures to prevent similar
incident from occurring in the future by taking active steps to observe the
public float requirement from time to time.

In 2018, the Company has followed up on those recommendations made
by Zhonghui Anda Risk Services Limited (“Zhonghui Anda’) as part of its
comprehensive review on the internal controls of the Group. As such, the
Group's internal supervision and risk prevention measures continue to
improve.
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COMPLIANCE OF CODE FOR DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiry, all current Directors have complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors adopted by the Company throughout the year
ended 31 March 2018.

MAINTENANCE OF PUBLIC FLOAT

During the period from 1 June 2017 to 6 July 2017, the Company did not
fulfil the minimum public float requirement (i.e. at least 25% of the
Company's issued shares being taken by the public) as set out under Rule
11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules. Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the date of this report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float
as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

EFFECTIVE AND EXPERIENCED BOARD
Board Composition

The Board comprised the following members during the year and at the
date of this report:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi
Mr. Lam Chi Man

(Resigned on 20 December 2017)
Mr. Ho Yeung

(Appointed on 1 June 2017)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Wing Keung

(Resigned on 1 February 2018)
Mr. Lau Chor Ki

(Appointed on 1 June 2017)
Mr. Gao Ping

(Resigned on 31 July 2017)
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
Ms. Chan Nga Man

(Appointed on 1 August 2017

and resigned on 3 April 2018)
Mr. Wong Kin Kee

(Appointed on 3 April 2018)
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Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to, among other matters, review
past financial and operating performance and discuss the Group's direction

and strategy.

During the year under review, seven Board meetings were held.

Details of the attendance of the Board during the year are as follows:
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Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
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HERE, HERE,
FRETZ FRETZ
ESg83X8 REASIH
Mr. Wang Xiaogi TERLE 7/7 2/2
Mr. Ho Yeung fAF e
(Appointed on 1 June 2017) (RZFE—+FNA—HEZT) 6/6 2/2
Mr. Lam Chi Man MEX L 6/6 2/2
(Resigned on 20 December 2017) (R=—F—+F+=-FH=-1+HEHTE)
Mr. Lam Wing Keung MoKIE T
(Resigned on 1 February 2018) (R=ZZF—NF=A—HEFT) 5/6 2/2
Mr. Gao Ping mEEE 3/4 -/~
(Resigned on 31 July 2017) (RZF—+F+H="+—HEFHE)
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE L 6/7 2/2
Mr. Lau Chor Ki Wit e e
(Appointed on 1 June 2017) (R=ZF—+tFNA—HEZ(T) 6/6 2/2
Ms. Chan Nga Man PRIEZE 22+
(Appointed on 1 August 2017 and (RZFE—+F\A—-HEZF
resigned on 3 April 2018) F R ZFE—\FNH = AEFE) 3/3 /1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee HEESE
(Appointed on 3 April 2018) (R=ZF—NFH=HEZF) -/~ ~/-
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Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s overall strategy,
considering and approving financial statements, material contracts and
transactions as well as other significant policy and financial matters. The
Board delegates the day to day operation and administration functions to
the executive Directors and management, while preserving the right to
finally approve key matters and strategic decisions. When the Board
delegates certain aspects of its management and administration functions
to management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of management,
in particular, with respect to the circumstances where management should
report back and obtain prior approval from the Board before making
decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.
The Directors do not have any financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

The Board understands that they are responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management systems, as well as monitoring
and review of the effectiveness of such systems. The Board has delegated
such responsibility to the executive Directors and the management of the
Group, and the executive Directors and the management will report to the
Board any findings regarding the risk management systems of the Group.

The Board and the management have reviewed the Group's financial,
operation, compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk
areas. During the year, the Group has established a risk management policy
and risk reporting mechanism. Our risk management policy covers various
aspects including systematic risk identification and assessment and risk
response processes, and a comprehensive risk monitoring and reporting
mechanism.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and draft proposed agendas for all Board and committee
meetings are normally made available to Directors in advance.

Notice to regular Board meetings is served to all Directors at least 14
business days before the meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors/committee members, to the extent
possible, at least 3 days before each Board or committee meeting to keep
the Directors or committee members apprised of the latest developments
and financial position of the Company enabling them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to senior management whenever it deems necessary.
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A

The secretary of the meeting is responsible to take and keep minutes of all
Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to
Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

According to the current practices of the Board, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests relating to a substantial shareholder,
director or Directors, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting. The Company'’s articles of association also
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such substantial shareholder, director or Directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

According to the Company'’s articles of association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general meeting,
provided that every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

According to the Code Provision A4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term of service, subject to re-
election.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi was appointed as executive Director with effect from 17
March 2015. Mr. Wang presently does not have a fixed term of service with
the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang is determined
with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1
June 2017. Mr. Ho has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2017 and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

Mr. Lam Chi Man was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
12 January 2017. Mr. Lam has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of 3 years commencing on 12 January 2017, subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association. Mr. Lam has resigned as an executive Director with
effect from 20 December 2017, due to his wish to devote more time on his
other personal endeavours.
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Mr. Gao Ping was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 12 January 2017. Mr. Gao has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing on 12
January 2017, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. Mr. Gao had
resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 31
July 2017 due to his wish to devote more time on his other personal
endeavours.

Mr. Lam Wing Keung was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 12 January 2017. Mr. Lam has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing on
12 January 2017, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. Mr. Lam has
resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1
February 2018 due to his wish to devote more time on his other personal
endeavours.

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 15 May 2014. Mr. Tse has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing on
15 May 2014 and another letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of two years commencing on 16 May 2017, and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

Mr. Lau Chor Ki was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1 June 2017. Mr. Lau has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing on 1
June 2017 and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in

accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

Ms. Chan Nga Man was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 1 August 2017. Ms. Chan has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing on 1
August 2017 and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. Ms. Chan has
resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 3 April
2018 due to her wish to devote more time on her other personal
endeavours.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 3 April 2018. Mr. Wong has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of 3 years commencing on 3
April 2018 and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company's articles of association.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of the current
independent non-executive Directors as regards their independence of the
Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers that
each of the current independent non-executive Directors to be
independent of the Company.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) were appointed for a specific term but subject to the relevant
provisions of the articles of association or any other applicable laws
whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office. Mr. Tse Yee
Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, the independent non-
executive Directors, were appointed until 15 May 2019, 31 May 2020 and 2
April 2021, respectively.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulated that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiaoqji, and Mr. Ho Yeung are
focused on evaluating new potential business and investment
opportunities and formulating a new business strategy to enhance the
revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new chairman
and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable candidates
have been identified for such purpose.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family or other
material and/or relevant relationship between the executive Directors and
members of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference as of 11 November 2016 in accordance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprised Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Group's audit
findings, accounting policies and standards, changes of accounting rules (if
any), compliance to the GEM Listing Rules, internal and audit control, and
cash flow forecast.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2018, the risk management and the
internal control system of the Group.

During the year, the Group’s unaudited quarterly and half-yearly results and
audited annual results for the year ended 31 March 2018 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee and it is of the view that such financial
statements have been prepared in compliance with the applicable
accounting standards and that adequate disclosures have been made.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the internal control and
risk management mechanism of the Group to be operating effectively for
the year ended 31 March 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, four meetings of the Audit
Committee were held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit
Committee meetings are as follows:
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Attendance/
Number of

Audit Committee
meetings held
during the year

HERE
REREITZ
EREESERNH
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (Chairman) HFE L (FE)

(Redesignated to Chairman on 1 February 2018) (R-_FE—-NF-_A—HAEATE) 4/4
Mr. Lam Wing Keung (Resigned on 1 February 2018) MoK A (R-FE—/\F=- A—HEHT) 3/3
Mr. Gao Ping (Resigned on 31 July 2017) SPRERZFE—+FLA=+—HEFT) Il
Mr. Lau Chor Ki (Appointed on 1 June 2017) MBEFLEERZE—+FNNA—HEZF) 4/4
Ms. Chan Nga Man (Appointed on 1 August 2017 and R+ (R —FE—+FENA—HEST

resigned on 3 April 2018) WR=ZFE—NFNA=HEFEF) 3/3
Mr. Wong Kin Kee (Appointed on 3 April 2018) BEASE(R=F—N\FHA=HEZF) -/

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the "Remuneration
Committee”) was established in November 2005 and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 2 December 2013 in
accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
requirements set out under Code Provision.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee comprised Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony,
Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.
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The Remuneration Committee meets at least once annually or on an as
needed basis. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Directors
and senior management and determine on behalf of the Board the specific
remuneration packages and conditions of employment for executive
Directors and senior management.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Remuneration Committee has
performed its duties to review the remuneration of Board members and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of Mr.
Ho Yeung, Mr. Lau Chor Ki, Ms. Chan Nga Man.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, three meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held. Details of the members’ attendance of the
Remuneration Committee meeting are as follows:
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Attendance/
Number of
Remuneration
Committee
meetings held
during the year

HERE,
RERETZ
FMZEEEER Y™
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (Chairman) HFEEE(EE)
(Redesignated to Chairman on 1 February 2018) (R=ZFE—+F-_A—HAFRERE) 3/3
Mr. Lam Wing Keung MoKER S 2/2
(Resigned on 1 February 2018) (R=ZFE—NF_H—HEHT)
Mr. Gao Ping (Resigned on 31 July 2017) BYEE(RZE—LFLA=1+—HET) 1/2
Mr. Lau Chor Ki (Appointed on 1 June 2017) MBEFLEERZE—+FNNA—HEZF) 2/2
Ms. Chan Nga Man (Appointed on 1 August 2017 and R+ (R —FE—+FENA—HEST
resigned on 3 April 2018) WR=ZFE—NFNA=HEFEF) /1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee (Appointed on 3 April 2018) BEASE(R=F—N\FHA=HEZF) -/
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The policies for the remuneration of executive Directors and, if appropriate,
independent non-executive Directors are:

to ensure that none of the Directors should determine their own
remuneration;

the remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
which the Company competes for human resources;

the Group should aim to attract and retain executives and to
motivate them to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst taking
into account individual performance; and

the remuneration should reflect the performance, complexity of
duties and responsibility of individuals.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”’) was established in May 2011 and the Company had adopted
a revised specific written terms of reference as of 2 December 2013 in
compliance with the Code Provision A.5.

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprised comprised Mr. Tse Yee
Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to identify potential
candidates and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Nomination Committee has
performed its duties to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Mr. Ho Yeung, Mr. Lau Chor Ki, Ms. Chan Nga Man.

Pursuant to code provision A.5.6 of the Code, the Board has adopted a
board diversity policy and the Nomination Committee is responsible for
monitoring the achievement of the measurable objectives set out in the

policy.

The Company recognises and seises the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
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In designing the Board's composition, board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the

benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, two meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held. Details of the members’ attendance of the
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Nomination Committee are as follows: /NN
Attendance/
Number of
Nomination
Committee
meetings held
during the year
HERE
REREITZ
REEES
=R P8
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (Chairman) FE A (FE)
(Redesignated to Chairman on 1 February 2018) (R=—ZFE—-NF-_A—HAEATE) 2/2
Mr. Lam Wing Keung MoK R 7 A 2/2
(Resigned on 1 February 2018) (R=ZF—-NEFE=H—HFEF)
Mr. Gao Ping (Resigned on 31 July 2017) SYPRERZE—+FLA=F+—HET) 1/2
Mr. Lau Chor Ki (Appointed on 1 June 2017) MEFEER_E—FNA—HEZE) /1
Ms. Chan Nga Man (Appointed on 1 August 2017 and BHEL+ (R-_E—+F/\ f—HEZF
resigned on 3 April 2018) WR=F—FNA=HEFHF) -/=
Mr. Wong Kin Kee (Appointed on 3 April 2018) BREAE(RZE—/\FHHA=HEZF) -/-
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices relevant to the model and growth of its business. In order to
achieve a right balance between governance and performance, the Board
is responsible for introducing and proposing relevant principles concerning
corporate governance so as to enhance the standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

The Board is primarily responsible for performing the following corporate
governance functions:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors; and

(e)  to review the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the corporate governance functions reviewed and performed
by the Board during the year are disclosed and explained in this Corporate
Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate in
continuous professional development and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed and
relevant. To ensure the Directors’ contribution to the Board remain
informed and relevant, the Company will be responsible for arranging and
finding suitable training for Directors and providing for its funding.

The Company will provide a comprehensive package of induction materials
about the duties, responsibilities and liabilities as well as statutory and
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.
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During the financial year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of this
report, an individual training record of each Director is set out below:

Attending or
participating in
courses/seminars/
conference/
workshops

Reading materials
relating to rules
relevant to rules and and regulations
regulations and the and discharge of
Group's business/  directors’ duties and
directors’ duties responsibilities

HEHS M
rE@MER
ESREERE WEEEZIRR
ER KR EBIRET
RE e/ EZRER
Name of Director EEnE E V(2 BEEZMH
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wang Xiaoqj FTEEEE v v/
Mr. Ho Yeung (Appointed on 1 June 2017) MELEE(RZF—EFNA—HEZT) v v/
Mr.Lam Chi Man MEEAE v v/
(Resigned on 20 December 2017) (R=—FE—+EFE+=-H=-1HEHF)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIXHTES v v/
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFEHELE v 4
Mr. Lam Wing Keung MoK v 4
(Resigned on 1 February 2018) (R=—ZF—)\F=-A—HEHL) v v/
Mr. Gao Ping (Resigned on 31 July 2017) SFEE(R_F—tFLA=F—HEFHT) v %
Mr. Lau Chor Ki (Appointed on 1 June 2017) MEFEE(R=_F—+FNA—HEZT) v v/
Ms. Chan Nga Man (Appointedon 1 August 2017and ~ BREESLH(R-E—+FNA—HESF
resigned on 3 April 2018) WR=F—VEMA=[EFE) v v
Mr. Wong Kin Kee (Appointed on 3 April 2018) BRESE(RE—/\FHA=-HEZHF) v v/

DEWE
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COMPANY SECRETARY

In view of the resignation of Mr. Chow Chun Man (“Mr. Chow"), an external
service provider, as the company secretary of the Company with effect
from 1 August 2017, the Company engaged another external service ~ RIEERE S —IMNERIS AR ET A (&L
provider, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael (“Mr. Tung’) as its company secretary. £ ) AERAWE - BE2ERTEE LS RE
Although Mr. Tung is accessible by all executive Directors and senior B A BER LA HHRITEF THRBLER
management. Mr. Wang Xiaogi and Mr. Ho Yeung, our executive Directors, ¥ BRIEEZFERB/A - HEZZE—N
are the principal persons with whom Mr. Tung liaises with. For the year F=A=+—HIEFE REEEBEZTLR15
ended 31 March 2018, Mr. Tung has received relevant professional training /)N 2 A8 B B 2 52 3 LASR T+ E R bt M a8 o 405 -
of not less than 15 hours to update his skills and knowledge.
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CHANGE IN AUDITOR IN PRECEDING 3 YEARS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14 February
2017 in relation to the change of auditor, Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited ("Grant Thornton") has resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 14 February 2017. On the same date, the Board appointed
McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited ("MMW") to fill the casual vacancy as the
auditor of the Company.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 27 November
2017 in relation to the change of auditor, MMW has resigned as the auditor
of the Company with effect from 27 November 2017. On the same date,
the Board appointed Grant Thornton to fill the casual vacancy as the
auditor of the Company until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year were
audited by Grant Thornton whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that Grant Thornton will be re-appointed as
auditor of the Company for approval by the shareholders of the Company
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the year under review, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s auditor, Grant Thornton, in respect of its audit and non-audit
services was as follow:
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Type of Services HK$’000
PR 7 %8BI FTER
Audit services EIZIRTE 300
Non-audit services EZ IR -
Total et 300

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board together with the management has developed the Group's
internal control, risk assessment and management systems. The Board has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining adequate and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of monitoring the Group's risk
management and internal control systems to the executive Directors and
the management, and the executive Directors and the management will
report to the Board of any findings regarding the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group from time to time.
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The Board reviews and evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at least
annually to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, of failure to achieve
the business objectives of the Group, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. We have
employed a bottom-up approach for identification, assessment and
mitigation of risk at all business unit levels and across functional areas.

Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems include the establishment of a risk management policy and a risk
reporting mechanism to keep track of and document identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the respective responsive procedures,
and the ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness.

The Board has taken into consideration factors including but not limited to
the followings when identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that
affect the achievements of the Group's objectives:

the nature and extent of the risks facing the Group;

the extent and categories of risk that the Board regards as acceptable
for the Group to bear;

the likelihood of the risks materialising;

the Group's ability to reduce the incidence and impact on the
business of risks that do materialise; and

the costs of operating particular controls relative to the benefit
thereby obtained in managing the related risks.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Board captures and identifies BT i@I2H - EE BB T 5 HUE B R 3%
the key inherent risks that affect the achievement of its objectives by  BIFZEHEK BiZ T EEAFEK :

performing the followings:

understanding organisational objectives and business processes;

determining the risk appetite and establishing the risk assessment
criteria;

identifying the risks associated with achieving or not achieving the
objectives and assessing the likelihood and potential impact of

particular risks; and

monitoring and evaluating the risks and the arrangements in place
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to address them.
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Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and internal & =2 @B B E E (BEENER) THHEZE - B
control systems by considering factors including but not limited to the &b & B f2 I EP B 122 R 4R 98 R -

followings:

the changes since the last annual review in the nature and extent of
significant risks, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

the scope and quality of management’s monitoring of risks and of
the system of internal control, and where applicable, the work of its
internal audit function and other third party consultants;

the extent and frequency of the communication of the results of the
monitoring to the Board or the Audit Committee which enables it to
build up a cumulative assessment of the state of control in the
Group's and the effectiveness with which risk is being managed;

the incidence of significant control failings or weakness that has
been identified at any time during the period and the extent to
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material
impact on the Group's financial performance or condition; and

the effectiveness of the Group's processes relating to financial
reporting and Listing Rules compliance.
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A

In view of the Group's business and scale of operations, and in order to
adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic reviews of
the Group's internal controls, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant Zhonghui Anda to execute the internal audit function.
Zhonghui Anda has conducted an internal control review of the
effectiveness of the Group's financial reporting procedures, systems and
control for the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 in accordance
with the requirements under Code Provision C.2 of the CG Code, according
to the scope of review agreed and approved by the Audit Committee.

Zhonghui Anda reported to the Audit Committee and the Audit
Committee was satisfied that there had been no major deficiency noted in
the areas of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
being reviewed after implementation of the recommendations on the
internal control defects. The Audit Committee reviews annually the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system,
internal control system and risk management system and associated
procedures and has access to information necessary to fulfil its duties and
responsibilities with respect to risk assessment and risk management.
Accordingly, the Audit Committee and the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be effective and have been
implemented with adequate resources during the year.

However, an issue arose during the year under review that the Company
failed to maintain a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as required under the GEM Listing
Rules due to inadvertent oversight. The management of the Company will
take measures to prevent similar incident from occurring in the future by
taking active steps to observe the public float requirement from time to
time.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information being
maintained until consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and dissemination
of inside information, which includes:

Designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

Designated persons and departments to determine further
escalation and disclosure as required; and

Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and respond
to external enquiries.
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The Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group to be operating effectively.

In 2018, the Company has followed up on those recommendations made
by Zhonghui Anda as part of its comprehensive review on the internal
controls of the Group. As such, the Group's internal supervision and risk
prevention measures continue to improve.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The auditor of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities
in the auditor’s report contained in this annual report for the year ended 31
March 2018.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the re-appointment of the auditor of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER'’S RIGHTS

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, any
one or more Members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board and sufficient contact details to enable these
enquiries to be properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of Company in Hong
Kong at Unit 1201-5, China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour Road, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board.
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Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting
forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board by written
requisition. Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, a
shareholder or shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures as
set out in paragraph headed “How shareholders can convene an
extraordinary general meeting” above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/) and the
Company (http://www.8050hk.com/).

There are no significant changes in the Company's memorandum and
articles of association during the year ended 31 March 2018.
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The Company is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance Report for the year ended 31 March 2018, with an aim to
demonstrate its efforts on sustainability developments to both internal and
external stakeholders.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 20 to the
GEM Listing Rules. This report primarily highlights the Group’s major
initiatives and activities implemented during the year for the three
environmental aspects and the eight social aspects. For information
regarding the governance section, please refer to the section of “Corporate
Governance Report”.

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its business, as
well as providing support to environmental protection and the
communities in which it operates. Quality products and services are
delivered to customers, and their business is managed prudently under
sound decision-making processes. Dialogue is maintained with
stakeholders such as shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers,
creditors, regulators and the general public. The Group seeks to balance
the views and interests of these stakeholders through constructive
conversation with a view to setting the course for long-term prosperity.
The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the
environmental, social and governance risks of the Group, and ensuring that
relevant risk management and internal control systems are in place and
operate effectively.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of system development
services and other value-added technical consultation services and
hardware-related business. The Group has also expanded into the PRC
market in the areas of manufacturing of ancillary high-tech software and
hardware products; developing and establishing integrated online
platforms for distribution of mobile products and provision of value-added
services; and setting up joint ventures with multinational companies to
introduce and procure mobile application services.

Excellent Master Investments Limited (“Excellent Master”) is principally
engaged in financing and provision of payroll and administrative services
for group companies in Hong Kong and has an office located in Hong
Kong (the "Hong Kong office").

Guangzhou YBDS is principally engaged in the provision of system
development services and other value-added technical consultation
services and hardware-related business in the PRC and has an office
located in Guangzhou (the “Guangzhou office”).

Social and Governance Report

KRABIMAREHE T —
FEZRE HEREARS
HESEEERNERAIBEERELHE N -

NEFE=ZA=+—HL
EREARIAEYSE)

AR & T B AR GEM T 3R BIFT #% 20 P& 2 3R 3% -
HERERAREESIMERE - AREZTEEHHH
AAEBERFAR = ERRHRE RN\ EL e
FTEEMEZIEENEE) - BREREMMER
B2 [ EERHRE] —f -

AEBBNHEBEEBOREAUFEER AR
RRERERSERENEREHRIE - A5H
FREEEY  WKBEEMNRERERF  AFP
REEEMNER LRSS - AEERNDZHEBAL

(BERR -EFP &8 HER EEA BT
BERAR)RHREHE  WEBEZRMENE
B BNTFEZHTHERNMAE  AEBREDN

EPRR - EFTSRATNEREEAKRENERE
e RERRER - R EERARE
ERGIEE RB B

AEBEERFRERGHBERS REMIBER
MR AR5 A R B IRRE TS - ARBEIEEH
M5 2REHH SRR RETER
MENMEVHFEBLETFEDHETRE R RHIE

BRYE  REBBEARKIAZERE  USIAR
REFHREREARBES -

Excellent Master Investments Limited ([ Excellent
Master)) T ZXBEARBEBE2EERFRMER
RUEIHFRITHRE  UREAREBEREE (&
BHMEE]) -

EMBEEEXH RN BEREERRRAERSE R
H A 38 {5 9 B A AR 7% DA IR AR A AERA 3R 75 - 0
EMEE SR ((RMNPERD -

ETEHERAR / T )\FEHRE 39



Beijing Huagin World Technology Limited Company (1t 5 ZE £ K i
ABR/AF)) ("Beijing Huaqin”) is principally engaged in the trading of
residential gateway products, including routers, G-PON equipment and
E-PON equipment in the PRC and has an office located in Beijing (the
"Beijing office”).

This report will focus on the environmental and social aspects of Hong
Kong office, Guangzhou office and Beijing office.

ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions

The Group has introduced environmental protection awareness into its
day-to-day operations. Employees are encouraged to minimise the energy
consumption and paper wastage. Various sustainable development
measures have been adopted to address environmental responsibilities,
including (i) the establishment of general guidelines for efficient use of
resources; (i) daily cost-saving proposals such as the prior use of recycle
papers for printing and setting double-side printing as default setting to
reduce the use of paper; (iii) paperless office initiatives to reduce paper out;
and (iv) staff are encouraged to switch off the light after the use of a room
to reduce electricity usage. The Group is committed to continuously
improve the ways these initiatives are being promoted. In addition, the
Group has encouraged green office concept and promoted the 3R
concept, i.e. Reduce, Reuse and Recycle. It has actively reminded its
employees the prevention of environmental pollution and encouraged
waste reduction.

There is no hazardous waste produced from the operations of Hong Kong
office, Guangzhou office and Beijing office. Non-hazardous waste produced
from the operations of these three offices is mainly comprised of general
office consumables which have no material impact on the environment.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. In addition,
there was no fine or non-monetary sanction for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported in the Year.
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Regarding the emissions data, the Group has collected the relevant key
performance indicators (the “KPI"), which is shown in the Appendix 1.

Use of Resources

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business activities on
the environment. A number of initiative measures designed to conserve
resources have been introduced to promote employees’ awareness of the
need for resources conservation and achieving efficient utilisation of
resources.

As mentioned in the above “Emission” section, the Group has several
policies to minimise the electricity consumed by the employees. The
Group has required its employees to switch off the equipment, including
air-conditioners, computers, printers, photocopiers and lights when they
get off their works. Air conditioners are set for indoor temperature between
24 to 26 degrees Celsius in summer, with an aim to reduce electricity
usage. In addition, the Group has encouraged the installation of compact
fluorescent light-bulbs, T5 fluorescent lamps and light emitting diodes
(LED). Water efficiency initiatives have also been promoted as the Group
has reminded its employees to check the water supply equipment, keep
the water tap off when not in use and arrange for immediate repairs in case
of leakage or other damages.

Although the Group has no production facilities, the Group has required
environmental friendly practices on its suppliers and business partners. For
example, it required its business partners to have certified with the
ISO14001 or GB/T24001 or other related environmental management
system certifications. During supplier and business partner selection
processes, it considers environmental protection as one of the key
assessment criteria and expect the potential impact on the environment to
be minimised during normal operations of its suppliers and business
partners.

Regarding energy and water consumption, the Group has collected the
relevant KPI, which is shown in the Appendix 1.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group encourages all employees to participate in different kinds of
recycling activities and minimising the use of natural resources. In the Year,
there is no significant impact on the environment and natural resources
from the operations.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment
Recruitment

The Group has established a comprehensive human resources
management system which requires the employment of employees based
on their experience, qualifications, and knowledge during the recruitment
process. To ensure that the rights and interests of employees are well
protected, employment contracts must be discussed and agreed with
prospective employees regarding salaries, benefits, annual leave and other
employment related issue, prior to signing by the employees.

Promotion, compensation, and dismissal

Appraisals are regularly performed to consider promotions and salary
increments based on the results of the employees’ performance reviews.
Dismissals of employees have been performed in compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) of Hong Kong and other local laws and
regulations.

Working hours, rest periods and benefits

Both Hong Kong and Mainland offices are provided with a five-day work
week arrangement with annual leaves and other leaves provided to allow
employees to have adequate rest periods. The Group has also provided
medical benefits, MPF schemes (for Hong Kong employees only) and other
benefits to employees.

Equal opportunities, diversity, and anti-discrimination

The Group's human resources policy states and their management ensure
that no discrimination exists within the Group in terms of age, sex, marital
status, family status, sexuality, disability, nationality or religion, etc. Any
form of discrimination is prohibited during any of their decision making
processes, including normal operations and any recruitment process.

During the reporting period, the Group has strictly complied with all
applicable laws and regulations of labour practices, including but not
limited to the (i) Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China ({ % A &
RN & )% )); (i) Law of the People’s Republic of China on Employment
Contracts ({2 A R £ MBI 8) & [F)%)); (i) Employment Ordinance
(Hong Kong) (£ 1& 1/ 1& 1 X & 7)); and (iv) Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Hong Kong) ({{& B BB EE)).
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Social and Governance Report
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As at 31 March 2018, the Group had a total of 52 employees. The RZZE—NF=A=+—H0 Kx&EFAE ;#Hgﬁﬁ 52
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Health and Safety

The Group places great importance on its people-oriented principles and
employees’ health and safety, such as providing employees with masks
during haze in Beijing, installing air purifiers at offices, made available
medicines for employees in case of sickness, etc.

To address the wellbeing of employees working in their offices, the Group
has established a health and safety management practices to enhance
their safety management, and promote employee safety awareness and
established safety measures, for example, they will regularly send emails
and relevant materials to employees to advocate the importance of a safe
working environment.

The Group has also set up health and safety requirements for its suppliers
and business partners, for example, business partners have certified with
OHSAS18001 or GB/T28001 or other related occupational health and safety
management system certifications.

During the reporting period, the Group has complied with relevant
occupational health and safety legislations and other relevant legislations
of Hong Kong and the PRC. No work-related fatalities and no loss days due
to work injury were noted.

Development and Training

The Group cares about employees’ development and encourages them to
participate in continuous learning through their career with them. The
Group has its tailor made IT-related examination system for internal
employees from most of the departments. Apart from this, it has also
provided training courses to employees or subsidised them in joining
external training courses organised by professional bodies. On the other
hand, learning experiences will also be provided to employees through job
allocation, and improvements in soft skills will benefit employees in their
career development in the long run.

Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the Group.
During the reporting period, the Group has strictly complied with all
respective laws and regulations regarding the employment of child labour
and forced labour. Further, clauses regarding the prevention of child labour
and forced labour were included in the employee handbook and human
resources policies.
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The minimum requirement for newly recruited middle-level and senior-
level employees of the Group are graduates from University. Background
checks and reference checks of potential new employees were also
performed during the recruitment process. Relevant details regarding
treatment of employee violation were also included in the employee
handbook and human resources policies.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations including but not
limited to the (i) Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FF # AR
HFNE LS EDSE))); (i) Law of the People’s Republic of China on Employment
Contracts (P ZE AR MBI L B4 [F5%)); (i) Employment Ordinance
(Hong Kong) ({EMEIEBINEE)); and (iv) Employment of Children
Regulations (Hong Kong) ({18 F8 52 Z #2 I )(F8)) that preventing from
employment of child or forced labour by the Group. In addition, there was
no fine or non-monetary sanction for non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations had been reported in the Year.

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

During the operations, the Group encourages its suppliers and business
partners to uphold high moral standards that are in line with the Group, it
has imposed strict requirements (both environmental and social
requirements) on its suppliers and business partners. Its partners are all
worldwide reputable companies and known for their ethical standards. In
selecting and evaluating its suppliers and business partners, their attitudes
towards environmental and social issues, including human rights, equal
opportunities etc., were also considered. During the reporting period, there
were a total of 6 suppliers and all of them were located in the PRC.

Product Responsibility

The Group has continuously paid considerable attention to brand effect
and product quality. It has set high requirements for its suppliers and
business partners during its selection phases. The Group has also
emphasised product quality improvements, provided after-sales services to
its customers, and has continuously work closely with its customers and
business partners to solve problems.

During the reporting period, no recalls of products had taken place.
Besides, no product complaints were received, nor any litigation was laid
against the Group during the reporting period. Any incidents (mostly
technical problems) were resolved immediately once occurred.

Social and Governance Report
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Regarding the Group's trademarks, terms in relation to such intellectual
property rights are included in the cooperation agreements between the
Group and its suppliers and business partners. Besides, confidentiality
agreements must also be signed between the Group and its suppliers and
business partners to protect the Group’s customer data and privacy.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of redress
on the Group. In addition, there was no fine or non-monetary sanction for
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations had been reported in
the Year.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to prohibiting any form of corruption such as
bribery, money laundering, extortion, and fraud. The Group believes that its
employees, suppliers, and business partners have maintained a strong
ethical conduct during regular business.

Information on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
are included in the employee handbook of the Group and was distributed
to all employees to follow. Besides, during every tendering process, an
Integrity Agreement must be signed by both the Group and the suppliers
or business partners. The Group has ensured that all relevant parties will act
in accordance with its requirements on anti-corruption.

During the reporting period, the Group has strictly complied with relevant
laws and regulations including but not limited to the (i) Law of the People’s
Republic of China Against Unfair Competition ({F # A R HFIE R 1E
BB 5%)); and (i) Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Hong Kong) ({F7 L&
B BE 1% 7 Y& 7B)). There was no litigation case regarding corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering was noted.

Community Investment

The Group values community contributions and always seeks to be a
positive force in the communities in which it operates and maintain close
communications and interactions with the communities in order to
contribute to local development from time to time. In addition, the Group
always encourages its employees to participate in volunteer works aiming
to help and support the local communities and neighbours.
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Appendix 1: Emission data from the operations of Excellent Master,
Guangzhou YBDS and Beijing Huagin are set out as follows:

8% — : 2K B Excellent Master ~ BN H &b R
BN SRS T

Excellent Master ~ Guangzhou YBDS Beijing Huaqin Total
Environmental Indicators RRERE Excellent Master BEMEE LREY @t
Emissions 354
Nitrogen oxides emissions (kg) SiLAHHE(FR) Not Applicable (Note 1) N (B3t 1)
Sulphur oxides emissions (kg) ZabFERE(TR) Not Applicable (Note 1) N (B3t 1)
Particulate Matter emissions (kg) EAMIME (TR) Not Applicable (Note 1) N A (Ha#1)
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emissions REREHERE
Total GHG emissions BEREHREE
(kg of carbon dioxide (‘€0,) equivalent) (Fr-&lt#((co,l)E8) 19,038 216 3,666 22920
GHG emissions per square meter of floor area BEAKEARBEREREINRE
(kg of CO, equivalent) (FRCO,E8) 63 4 34 50
) o A - T
Indirect emissions from electricity consumption B FTE LN REEHNE
(kg of CO, equivalent) (FrCO,E2) 18,298 108 3308 20,714
Other indirect emissions from water BKRREEBRERAN
consumption and disposal of paper waste HiEEnE
atlandfills (kg of CO, equivalent) (FRCO,E8) 740 108 358 1,206
Waste BEY
Non-hazardous waste generated in total (tons) rELEZEENAE (18) Non-hazardous waste produced from the operations was mainly comprised
Non-hazardous waste generated BYHREHAEREE of general office consumables which have no material impact on the environment. Therefore,
per square meter of floor area (tons) BEBENE (W) the Group did not collect the relevant data.
EEXBMEENESEENIERE RFATHER  HRRTREATE -
Bt - AREY RKERRERE
Hazardous waste generated in total (tons) BERKREAREMES
BEEENE (W) , .
Hazardous waste generated per square meter PR B ZREEYHE (1F) Not Appiicable (ote ) "Ri8F (At 2)
of floor area (tons)
Use of Resources ERER
Energy consumption in total (kWh) R EREE (TRE) 23162 353 7,341 30856
Energy consumption per square meter BYFKEERERREES
of floor area (kWh/m?) (FEE/FHK) 77 7 69 67
Water consumption in total (m?) BRKE (LK) Not Applicable Not Applicable 512 512
Water consumption per square meter YA KEAEERKE (Note 3) (Note 3)
of floor area (m?/m?) (LK /FER*) NEA TEA
(Hiit3) (Hat3) 5 5
Note 1: Since the entity does not have motor vehicles, power plants, and industrial and ~ #&F 7 ERZERWETE FEHARIEHELF - 81
commercial processes, no air emissions include nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides, and EELATERERD(BETALY  HE/lDRBEN
particulate matter are generated. ) e
Note 2: The Group does not generate hazardous wastes including chemical wastes, clinical ~ ff3#2 : AEBEELBRBIIWEEEBEEEEY - Bt

wastes and hazardous chemicals in its operations.

Note 3: Since water is provided by the property management office, no water consumption data

is collected.

BREEY) - BEEMLEZ(CEYE -

Brat3: RRBRKTIIMMETIEERME

g -
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi (£ B 4) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 39, was appointed
as an executive Director on 17 March 2015 and was re-elected on 3 August
2015 and 1 August 2017 respectively, and a director of nine subsidiaries
within the Group. He has been a business manager of Guangzhou YBDS IT
Co., Ltd* (B BBIEE BRHERAR AR, an indirectly wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, since May 2014. He has over 15 years of
working experience in the telecommunications industry in China. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Wang Xiaogi was the deputy general manager of
Hua Strong Network Science and Technology Limited Company* (ZE K48
@RI AR QA and Beijing Huagin World Technology Limited
Company* (b REE R BB R A F]), both of which are indirect
subsidiary of the Company, from 2000 to 2014. Mr. Wang has resigned from
both companies in April 2014. He obtained a bachelor degree from Beijing
University of Technology (3t X L% A &) in Computer Controls and
Applications. As at the date of this report, Mr. Wang is interested in 382,000
ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.028% of the
total number of ordinary shares of the Company. Saved as disclosed above,
Mr. Wang Xiaogi does not have any interest in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"). Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not hold any positions in the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorships in any public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Wang is not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Ho Yeung (f] 3¥ % 4 ) (“Mr. Ho"), aged 63, was appointed as an
executive Director on 1 June 2017 and was re-elected on 3 August 2017.
Since 1999, Mr. Ho has been a senior executive at a leading high-tech
software company in China and has held the post of executive director of a
renowned real estate company in China for more than ten years. Since
1994, Mr. Ho has been on the board of members of the council at the
China Association for the Promotion of Investment. Mr. Ho was an
independent non-executive director of China Gas Holdings Limited, a
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
384), from 12 December 2012 to 27 November 2017. As at the date of this
report, Mr. Ho is interested in 18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares
of the Company. Saved as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not have any
interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not
hold any positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not
hold any directorships in any public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho is not connected with any Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders
of the Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (# & &4 ) (“Mr. Tse”), aged 48, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 15 May 2014, and was re-
elected on 23 June 2014 and 1 August 2017 respectively. He holds a
Bachelor of Science degree with honors in Finance and Accounting from
University of Salford, United Kingdom and a degree in Executive Master of
Business Administration from Richard Ivey School of Business, The
University of Western Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tse is a member of each of
lllinois Certified Public Accountants Society, American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, Institute of Accountants Exchange, Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute and Hong Kong Securities Professionals
Association. Mr. Tse is also an associate member of The Chartered Institute
of Management Accountants of the United Kingdom and Hong Kong
Institute of Certificate Public Accountants. Mr. Tse has over 18 years of
experience in corporate finance and accounting and has worked for several
international accounting firms, investment banks and the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Tse is currently a managing director of corporate finance department in
Essence Corporate Finance (Hong Kong) Limited and acts as its principal
under the sponsor regime. Mr. Tse was a non-executive director of China
Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Fairson
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8132) from 10 January 2014 to 30 April
2015. Mr. Tse was also a non-executive director of Millennium Pacific Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8147) from 6 October 2014 to 17 July 2017.
Mr. Tse is a responsible officer licensed under the SFO to carry on Type 1
(dealing in securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities. Mr. Tse does not have any interests in the shares of the Company
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse
does not hold any positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
does not hold any directorships in any public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Mr. Lau Chor Ki (1% % 54 ) (“Mr. Lau”), age 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 June 2017, and was re-elected
on 3 August 2017. Mr. Lau holds a diploma in Management from Hong
Kong Polytechnic (awarded jointly by the Hong Kong Management
Association), a certificate programme on writing precisely what you mean
from the Hong Kong Management Association, a certificate of Practice in
Chinese Property Laws —a distance learning certificate programme from
the Hong Kong Management Association. Mr. Lau joined in Hang Seng
Bank group (stock code: 00011) and had served in the group for 40 years
from 1973 to 2013. During this period, Mr. Lau worked in various
departments including retail banking, loans department, credit control and
administration. Also, he was a department head monitoring the central
cash of the bank when retired in May 2013. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Lau does not hold any positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and does not hold any directorships in any public companies the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau is not connected with
any Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau does not have any interests in the
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (B £ 54 ) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 65, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 3 April 2018. Mr. Wong
graduated from Columbia Radio Institute (Sf PR Lt SE 4R B T 12 2 )
majoring in radio engineering in 1978. Mr. Wong has been working for
Mitsubishi Electric Hong Kong Group Ltd. (:%ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ@ a)) (formerly
known as Ryoden Electric Engineering Co, Ltd. (2 & T 12 & R & 7))
from 1970 to 2010. He has been responsible for the company’s China
business since 1983. He was the key responsible person for its subsidiary
established in China, his last position was a supervisor of the executive
department and was mainly responsible for its elevator business. Mr. Wong
is currently a director of Jinxiong Plastic Industry Co.,, Ltd.* (&84 (¥88) T
FBBR72 7)) and an executive director of Shenzhen Sanli Mechanical and
Electrical Equipment Engineering Co,, Ltd* (RIINT = FIHERE T2 A
R A 7R]), both are agents for electrical products of Changzhou Sanli
Electrics Company* (& 1T = E 85 A 7
Wong does not hold any positions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and does not hold any directorships in any public companies the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in
the last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong is not connected
with any Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or
controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Wong does not have any
interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

). Save as disclosed above, Mr.
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The Directors submit herewith the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group focused to strengthen its
business development in the area of trading of high-tech software and
hardware equipment; develop and establish payment platforms to provide
mobile payment services and value-added services; and set up joint
ventures with multinational companies to introduce and procure mobile
application services, among others. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group's principal activities during the year.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and operating segments for the year
under review is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a discussion
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 7 to 18 of this
Annual Report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 67 to 68.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2018,

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 60. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options are set out in
notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 72 and note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2018, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company's reserve
available for distribution to shareholders (comprising share premium)
amounted to approximately HK$101,852,000.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

To the best knowledge of the Group, employees, customers and business
partners are the key to continuous sustainable development. We commit
to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with employees, and
work together with our business partners to provide high quality products
and services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and
contribution to the society.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group paid close attention to environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAW AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied
with all related laws and regulations in all material aspects which may have
significant impact on the operation of the Group.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year ended 31
March 2018.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted on 1 August 2011 by the shareholders
of the Company under which the executive Directors may, at their
discretion, grant options to themselves and any employees of the Group
entitling them to subscribe for shares representing up to a maximum of 10
per cent of the shares in the Company in issue from time to time. The
purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to participants as incentives and rewards for their contribution to
the Company or its subsidiaries.

No options were granted under the share option scheme since its adoption
by the Company or outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or exercised at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2018.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaogi
Mr. Ho Yeung (Appointed on 1 June 2017)
Mr. Lam Chi Man (Resigned on 20 December 2017)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Wing Keung (Resigned on 1 February 2018)

Mr. Gao Ping (Resigned on 31 July 2017)

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony

Mr. Lau Chor Ki (Appointed on 1 June 2017)

Ms. Chan Nga Man (Appointed on 1 August 2017
and resigned on 3 April 2018)

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (Appointed on 3 April 2018)
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Mr. Lam Chi Man (“Mr. C.M. Lam”) has resigned as an executive Director
with effect from 20 December 2017, due to his wish to devote more time
on his other personal endeavours. Mr. C.M. Lam has confirmed that he does
not have any disagreement with the Board and that there is no matter
relating to his resignation which needs to be brought to the attention of
the shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Gao Ping (“Mr. Gao”) has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 31 July 2017 due to his other business
commitments. Mr. Gao has confirmed that he has no disagreement with
the Board and there is no matter in respect of his resignation that needs to
be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Lam Wing Keung (“Mr. W.K. Lam”) has resigned as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 1 February 2018, due to his wish to
devote more time on his other personal endeavours. Mr. WK. Lam has
confirmed that he does not have any disagreement with the Board and
that there is no matter relating to his resignation which needs to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Ms. Chan Nga Man (“Ms. Chan") has resigned as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 3 April 2018 due to her wish to devote
more time on her other personal endeavours. Ms. Chan has confirmed that
she does not have any disagreement with the Board and that there is no
matter relating to her resignation which needs to be brought to the
attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Pursuant to Articles 83 and 84 of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Wang Xiaoqji, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Wang Xiaogji, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and
Mr. Wong Kin Kee, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARIES

During the year and up to the date of this report, Mr. Wang Xiaogi is also a
director of the Company’s subsidiaries. Other director of the Company's
subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this report was as follows:

Mr. Li Kwan Shing
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, the Company has entered into a letter of
appointment with each of the current independent non-executive
Directors, namely, (a) Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony for a term of two years
commencing from 16 May 2017, (b) Mr. Mr. Lau Chor Ki for a term of three
years commencing from 1 June 2017, (c) Mr. Wong Kin Kee for a term of
three years commencing from 3 April 2018, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi presently do not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang Xiaogi will be
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2017, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 48 to 50.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to their relevant qualifications, experience and
duties and responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in November 2005 and the
Company had adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 2
December 2013 in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the requirements set out under Code Provision.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee comprised Mr. Tse Yee Hin,
Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which any of the
Company's holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company or a connected entity of the
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, at no time during the year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2018, (i) Mr. Wang Xiaogi is interested in 382,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.028% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company; (i) Mr. Ho Yeung is interested
in 18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately
1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares of the Company. Saved as
disclosed above, none of the other Directors or their respective associates
and the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the minimum standards of dealing by directors of
the Company as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2018, so far as the Directors are aware of and having made
due enquires, the following persons had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO and/or
were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any other members of the Group:

%gﬂii%ﬂiﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁt%ﬁ&
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued share
issued ordinary capital as at
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held 31 March 2018
RZE-N\F
=A=+-—-H
FEE T HEBRTRE
BRERE S &% ZRRHE BAEI
(Note 2) (Note 3)
(Hizt2) (H15E3)
Happy On Holdings Limited ("Happy On") (Note 1) Beneficial owner
Happy On Holdings Limited ([Happy On|) (Fi{zE1)  EZH#EAA 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%
Mr. Chan Foo Wing (“Mr. Chan") (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation
RERLE(REED () RErE R 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%
Notes: BiE
1. As Mr. Chan is the ultimate beneficial owner and the sole director of Happy On, by virtue 1. HRBRE AL B Happy ONZ R ER 2 EHRAARKE—F
of the SFO, Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested in the 987,888,771 shares held by Happy £ IREFFREEED] - BRI WAR ER Happy On BT
on. 2987888771 R R A = o
2. “L” means long positions in the shares. 2. [LIERND 2 T8 -
3. Based on 1,356,250,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2018. 3. BREARAIAR-_ZT-N\E=ZA=+—HE &7

1,356,250,000 B AZ (A 51 E ©



MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the largest and the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 38% and 62% of the
Group's total purchases respectively. Sales to the largest and the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for approximately 43% and 99% of the
Group's total sales respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's
five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2018, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) of the Company had an interest in a business which competed with
or might compete with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

During the period from 1 June 2017 to 6 July 2017, the Company did not
fulfil the minimum public float requirement (i.e. at least 25% of the
Company's issued shares being taken by the public) as set out under Rule
11.23(7) of the GEM Listing Rules. Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the date of this report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float
as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the year and up to the date of this report, there was or is
any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any
Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or of its associated
company (made by the Company).
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in May 2000, and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 11 November 2016 in
accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At present, the Audit Committee comprised of Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr.
Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Audit Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the corporate governance report on pages 19 to 38 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

MMW has resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 27
November 2017. The Board, with the recommendation from the Audit
Committee, has appointed Grant Thornton as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 27 November 2017 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of MMW and to hold office until the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Grant
Thornton. A resolution to re-appoint Grant Thornton as auditor of the
Company will be proposed to the shareholders of the Company for
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 13 June 2018
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A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as

extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out below:

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
For the year ended 31 March 2018

MBRHE

2T \F=R=1+—HILFE

REEBEREMBEE DAL
£ 18RI R E (B B BRI S BRE) 2
ESIN

BAREE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
-\ ZE—+F ZT—RF ZET—HF ZT—WNUF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET FET FET FAET
RESULTS E45
Revenue e 17,258 28,561 316,706 163,853 36,572
Loss before income tax K P55 B g 1a (12,703) (67,033) (1,558) (1,500) (10,419)
Income tax credit/(expense) Fri§fi %, (BsZ) 431 (251) (3,482) (686) ®)
Loss for the year from FRARFELE
continuing operations EBEEZBA (12,272) (67,284) (5,040) (2,186) (10,427)
Discontinued operations, 4% |F {A&A 27K
net of tax LB - 773 (965) - -
Loss for the year FNEE (12,272) (66,511) (6,005) (2,186) (10,427)
Attributable to: AT ARG
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ Y =N (8,519) (39,606) (4,253) (2,819) (10,481)
Non-controlling interests ~ FEFE IR RS (3,753) (26,905) (1,752) 633 54
(12,272) (66,511) (6,005) (2,186) (10427)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES &EREE
Total assets BAE 192,073 193,633 398,345 453,708 131,505
Total liabilities BwAE (141,576) (133,023) (267,556) (313,043) (8,870)
50,497 60,610 130,789 140,665 122,635
Attributable to: AR AT
Owners of the Company VN/NETE =N 64,654 69,699 112,629 119,864 122,448
Non-controlling interests ~ JEIZERRHERS (14,157) (9,089) 18,160 20,801 187
50,497 60,610 130,789 140,665 122,635
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To the shareholders of Quantum Thinking Limited
(Formerly known as Yunbo Digital Synergy Group Limited)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Quantum
Thinking Limited (formerly known as Yunbo Digital Synergy Group Limited)
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on
pages 67 to 144, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BEESSEE
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were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HiSGAEMBHRERMNBI RAEENFTH -  5&=F
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8o

How the Key Audit Matter has addressed in our audit
BERNEFNAEERARENSE

Revenue recognition in respect of system development
and consultancy services

Refer to notes 2.15 — Revenue recognition and 5 — Revenue
and segment information to the consolidated financial
statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group recognised revenue
in total of HK$17,258,000 from the sale of hardware products and
system development, consultancy, maintenance and other
services. Revenue of HK$10,846,000 and HK$2,225,000 was
generated from the system development and consultancy
services, respectively.

The Group uses the percentage of completion method to
determine the appropriate revenues to be recognised from
rendering of system development and consultancy services. The
stage of completion is measured by reference to the actual costs
incurred up to the reporting date as a percentage of total
estimated costs of completion based on management
experiences and estimation or as contract progress confirmed
and accepted by the customers.

We identified the revenue recognition as a key audit matter due
to the significance in the degree of judgement on the stage of
completion of system development and consultancy service
contracts.
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition of system
development and consultancy service contracts included:

(i) checked on a sample basis, to contracts, invoices, project
status reports and other relevant correspondences to
evaluate the reasonableness of management’s assessment
of budgeted total contract costs and actual costs incurred;

(i) selected contracts on a sample basis, to perform interview
with the project managers and assessed whether these
estimates showed any evidence of management bias;

(i) sent direct confirmations on a sample basis, to the
subcontractors to confirm the contract progresses, actual
cost incurred up to the end of the reporting period and
assessed whether the information obtained is consistent
with management’s estimation;

(iv) obtained confirmation from the customers to confirm the
contract progress; and

(v) reviewed and recalculated actual cost incurred and
compared to the budgeted cost.



Key Audit Matter
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How the Key Audit Matter has addressed in our audit
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2018 annual report of the
Company, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

13 June 2018

Shaw Chi Kit
Practising Certificate No.: P04834
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ent of Profit or Loss and Other

N

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FE T FET
Revenue Wz 5 17,258 28,561
Cost of sales and services HE MRS (10,628) (22,274)
Gross profit E| 6,630 6,287
Other income R LON 6 5,287 3,045
Distribution costs SoR iz DN (4,579) (11,107)
Administrative expenses THAX (20,041) (65, 258)
Loss before income tax [%Fﬁ SR ATE IE 7 (12,703) (67,033)
Income tax credit/(expense) BRER,(Fix) 431 (251)
Loss for the year from continuing fli ABEREEBERS
operations (12,272) (67,284)
Discontinued operations, net of tax EARIEEEER (NBRBE) 10 - 773
Loss for the year FREE (12,272) (66,511)
Loss for the year attributable to: LT ATEEFARES :
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ Y =N (8,519) (39,606)
Non-controlling interests FEITARMERS (3,753) (26,905)
(12,272) (66,511)
(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable ~ HI T SIEL 2R ATEE A
to owners of the Company arises from  FE{5F & (E518), %%
Continuing operations FEEEEY (8,519) (39,625)
Discontinued operations BRI E R = 19
(8,519) (39,606)
Loss per share attributable to ARAREEANELEERER
the owners of the Company
Basic loss per share: (HK cents) BRELRER  (GB)
From continuing operations RFECEEREE 11 (0.63) (2.92)
From discontinued operations RERIEREEBES " - -
From loss of the year HERBRES 1 (0.63) (2.92)
Diluted loss per share: (HK cents) SREHEER - B
From continuing operations BRFECEEREE 11 (0.63) (2.92)
From discontinued operations RERIEREEBESE " - -
From loss of the year HERBERES 1 (0.63) (2.92)
ETEHBRRAR /- \FERE 67
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—T—+F
Note HK$'000
Bt aE FET
Loss for the year (66,511)
Other comprehensive expense Hih2HEB X
Exchange differences arising on HigHER T EEERncnE
translation of foreign operations BINETSEE 2 [E K ETE
that will be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss (3,841)
Other comprehensive expense FREMSERME X (NRHE)
for the year, net of tax (3,841)
Total comprehensive expense FRAZEHBXEHE
for the year (70,352)
Total comprehensive expense UTATEEER
for the year attributable to: 2HAXARE:
Owners of the Company PN/NETEZ RS DN (42,930)
Non-controlling interests (27,422)
(70,352)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income H THIELZAATEGA
for the period attributable to owners  FE{HHIA2E (Bik)
of the Company arises from
Continuing operations FEEEEY (42,949)
Discontinued operations B IE TS 19
(42,930)
The notes on page 73 to 144 are an integral part of these consolidated 5573 & 144 B 7 B 55 1 5k 1k 2R E =
financial statements. HhEs o



2018 2017
Note —ZE-N\F e
B E HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 13 987 2,383
Intangible assets | EE 14 393 394
Goodwill P 15 - -
Prepayment of leasehold improvement TENEEYERERIE 1,267 -
2,647 2,777
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 - -
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H A e ks 18 46,208 20,444
Financial assets designated BERAFEGTABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss PRAE 19 24,365 40,590
Cash and cash equivalents RENRBEEEY 20 76,790 129,822
Restricted cash SIRHIIRE 42,063 -
189,426 190,856
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 RAMERFIE 21 141,054 131,693
Tax payable e IR 522 1,330
141,576 133,023
Net current assets RBEEFE 47,850 57,833
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABERS 50,497 60,610
Net assets EERE 50,497 60,610
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to the AAREE AELER
owners of the Company
Share capital &S 22 135,625 135,625
Reserves M 25 (70,971) (65,926)
64,654 69,699
Non-controlling interests R R (14,157) (9,089)
Total equity R 50,497 60,610
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Yeung
E:-$5) A%
Director Director
E E
The notes on page 73 to 144 are an integral part of these consolidated E73E 14 B2 iR L EESMBREZH

financial statements.
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2018 2017
Note —E-N\EF —E—+F
B HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET FHET
(restated)
(F&E%))
Cash flows from operating activities RELE TR 2HERE
Loss before income tax KRS BLATE R
From continuing operations RSB ST (12,703) (67,033)
From discontinued operations FRE AR I E A 3T = 773
(12,703) (66,260)
Adjustments for: R TR -
Depreciation of property, W - WEMRERETE
plant and equipment 1,152 1,066
Amortisation of intangible assets | A 1 1
Loss on disposal of intangible assets HERLEENEISR - 18
Loss on written off of property, ME - RE MR EMERAEE
plant and equipment 375 -
Bank interest income RITHBHA (153) (350)
Investment income from financial assets REEERAFERTA
designated at fair value through BRZEMEEZ
profit or loss BN (1,739) (2.275)
Impairment loss on other receivables HAth e IE 2 REBE 850 3,991
Reversal of impairment loss on HAth pE IR 2 R E B R
other receivables (1,533) -
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEWE Z3kIE 2 REBE 3,261 2,464
Impairment on intangible assets mIZEERE - 692
Loss on written off of inventories GFEMERENEE - 11,712
Write-down of inventories to net WO & 2= Al #4317 5HAE
realisable value - 12,581
Reversal of write-down of inventories TFEMUR B [ (1,403) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B A TM I ES - (746)
Impairment loss on goodwill AR ERE B = 3,552
Operating loss before working LEESERI L BER
capital changes (11,892) (33,554)
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,403 8,324
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 I H i FE W R IB R 6,429 127,199
Decrease in financial assets designated at 31X A FEE AEBZE 2
fair value through profit or loss SREER D 19,455 3,461
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 R Ho b JE A 5B R (4,524) (126,341)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations &S 1E,/(FH) 28R E 10,871 (20911)
Investment income from financial assets REEEERAFEFTAEBRZ
designated at fair value through SREEZREWA
profit or loss 1,739 2,275
Income tax paid =ANIZIESE (497) (1,628)
Income tax refund R EIFTISH 30 1,615
Net cash generated from/(used in) & TEFTRR (B2
operating activities BEFEE 12,143 (18,649)
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2018 2017
Note —E-N\F —E—tF
B HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET FAET
(restated)
(g&E7)
Cash flows from investing activities RERETEBZ2HESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB 1% - E MR - (1,001)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AT - (266)
Interest received from bank BHERITH S 153 350
Prepayment of leasehold TR EYERERIE
improvement (1,196) -
Increase in restricted cash R FIER 2L (39,693) -
(Advances to)/Repayment from third parties (32 FE =72 E%),/
KEE=ZENR (31,331) 33
Net cash used in investing activities KRG B FE (72,067) (884)
Cash flows from financing activities RERMETE2HESRE
Repayment of advance from a director BERE—BEFZBNR - (64)
Net cash used in financing activities BEFEEH R FHE - (64)
Net decrease in cash and HeERRSEBYRDFE
cash equivalents (59,924) (19,597)
Cash and cash equivalents REVZRE RIFSEEY
at beginning of year 129,822 149,754
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes,  [EXRE B HFIEHE 2 F 2
on cash held 6,892 (335)
Cash and cash equivalents at end REARBERRITERR
of year, represented by cash FERezREeRESEEY
at banks and in hand 20 76,790 129,822
The notes on page 73 to 144 are an integral part of these consolidated 73 F 144 B 2 Mt R SR A M ERRZE

financial statements.
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Attributable to the owners of the Company

ERRHEARE
Non-
Share Share Warrant  Translation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
AR
RE ROERE wE  RBRRE  RHEE &t FERER  ERAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR TER TER TaR TER TER ThR
Asat 1 April 2016 RZE-~ENA—H 135625 99935 900 (2377) (121,454) 112,629 18,160 130,789
Comprehensive expense 2EEX
Loss for the year FERER - - - - (39,606) (39,606) (26,905) (66,511)
Other comprehensive expense ~ E i 2 %
Exchange differences arising on BEBMNEBEEL
translation of foreign operations [ i, £ %8 - - - (3324) - (3324) (517) (3841)
Total comprehensive expense  FRX 2 HF XA
for the year - - - (3324) (39,606) (42930) (27422) (70352)
Transaction with owners HEEAZRS
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - - - - 173 173
Total transaction with owners ~ EEE A 2R ZHAHE - - - - - - 173 173
As at 31 March 2017 and RIZE—tE=A=+-H
1 April 2017 R=E—+FMA—-AH 135,625 99,935 900 (5,701) (161,060) 69,699 (9,089) 60,610
Comprehensive expense 2EAX
Loss for the year FERER = = = = (8,519) (8,519) (3,753) (12,272)
Other comprehensive expense  H At 2 EMH %
Exchange differences arisingon ~ EESNEBEL 2
translation of foreign operations (B 28 - - - 3,377 - 3,377 (1,218) 2,159
Total comprehensive expense  FRZEHTAHE
for the year - = = 3,377 (8,519) (5,142) (4,971) (10,113)
Transaction with owners BEEAZRS
Deermed disposal of RELERKBRR
the partial investment in a Mz ENSHEE
subsidiary, Shenzhen Anxin (FizE16)
(note 16) - - - - (266) (266) 266 -
Acquisition of additional WA E LA
investment in a subsidiary, FINRENEIMEE
Shenzhen Anxin (note 16) (fifzE16) - - = - 363 363 (363) -
Release upon expiry of warrants R RIRIEEE R BL
(note 22) (Mz22) - - (900) - 900 - - -
Total transaction with owners ~ SEBAZRBHHE = - (900) - 997 97 (97) -
Asat31March 2018 RZB-N\F=ZA=1t—-H 135625 99,935 - (2324)  (168,582) 64,654 (14,157) 50,497
The notes on page 73 to 144 are an integral part of these consolidated E73E 14 B2 iR L EESMBREZH

financial statements.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Quantum Thinking Limited (formerly known as Yunbo Digital
Synergy Group Limited) (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 8 May 2000 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The
Company’s registered office is situated at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company’s principal place of business is situated at Unit 1201-5,
China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong.

The Company's shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of system development services and other
value-added technical consultation services and hardware-related
business. The Group has also expanded into the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") market in the areas of manufacturing of ancillary
high-tech software and hardware products; developing and
establishing integrated online platforms for distribution of mobile
products and provision of value-added services; and setting up joint
ventures with multinational companies to introduce and procure
mobile application services, among other things.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the parent and
ultimate holding company of the Company is Happy On Holdings
Limited ("Happy On"), which was incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of
unit of Hong Kong dollars ("HK$’000") unless otherwise stated,
these consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018 were approved for issue by the board of directors on 13 June
2018.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
"GEM Listing Rules").

The significant accounting policies that have been used in
preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The
adoption of new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group's consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The
measurement basis is fully described in the accounting
policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management'’s best knowledge and judgement of current
events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statement, are disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights relating to the entity (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

Subsidiaries are consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and
losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Where unrealised losses on intragroup asset sales are reversed
on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for
impairment from the Group's perspective. Amounts reported
in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result in
the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. The Group
applies the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets to account for all its acquisitions.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
the equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests,
but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss
is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss
on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

In the Company's statement of financial position, subsidiaries
are carried at cost less any impairment losses unless the
subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost
is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes
direct attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the
reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the
investee'’s pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised in the
Company's profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. ERSHBEHME(E)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Business combinations

23 EXKESH

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in
a business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity in the acquiree (if any) over the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase
gain.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
considered as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill or
gain on bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.
Measurement period does not exceed one year from the
acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified.

LE=Th) UNCIVSE 3329 - YN
EBaotrEE s KERAFERE
Mt BT EARAKERBREZEE
AEEAFEEETRBRREEZEE
RARER IR IE T7 2 122 i 3%
TZBEERBER 2R EZBE-
W AR BB AR B E R RN E 2  ©

$H5 A G T RBIE MR AE RER
8 B KA B RN B 82
ISR

BERNMER I RE  FERER
REWRETT h AT A 2 BRI AT
FRERKE D #EZ AFEMIA)Z
FAN - ORI EE 2 T B R B K R
EzEERWBRMFER B
2 ZRFE - WEBFHE - IR
Bz AR EERMAERERIE
BHZFERNER I RE TR
RENEWIE D R ATE 2R R BT
PERE B a2 2 FEME)
2R ERERRRNIBEEAERA
BB

HMAREREBEHTERZRER
BRRARELHEEZEERRE
HAREDRERERRZ X FEF
EURESNREBEHFFAERNE
B — & RAREZ R FEZS (N
NAETEMHEBARER) ERHE
I 7 B o 1B WO W s 1 R AR R S
E-FENHARSNGAEHRRR
WEARFELFERBRAESEIN
BRI Bz#HE - tEHRTES
WiE B s —F - TR ERIERG
EHRAZENIARELFEZIHH
HEgtBEIORRIARERZWMA

K
DHE e

ETEHBRRAR / ZFE—\FERE 77



2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

24

Business combinations (Continued)

Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as a financial liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value with
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity before the acquisition date are reclassified to profit
or loss when the Group obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of
that date.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars ("HKS"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the
reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

25

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group's presentation currency,
have been converted into Hong Kong dollars. Assets and
liabilities have been translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses have
been converted into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average rates over the
reporting period provided that the exchange rates do not
fluctuate significantly. Any differences arising from this
procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in the translation reserve
in equity.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation
attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any
exchange differences that have previously been attributed to
non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to
the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part
of that equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance
are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

25

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated using straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Plant and machinery 20-50%
Furniture and fixtures 20-25%
Office equipments 20%

The assets’ residual values, depreciation method and useful
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill

Set out below are the accounting policies on goodwill arising
on acquisition of a subsidiary.

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an
asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date).
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the
acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquire and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested
annually forimpairment (see note 2.16).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable
amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of gain or loss on disposal.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and

research and development activities

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses. Amortisation of
intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful
lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised from the date they are available for use and their

estimated useful lives are as follows:

Capitalised development costs 5 years
10 years

Trademark

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed

annually.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost

less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are

tested for impairment as described below in note 2.16.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and

research and development activities
(Continued)

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in profit

or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to

development activities are recognised as intangible assets

provided they meet the following recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(i) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated:;

(iv)  the intangible asset will generate probable economic
benefits through internal use or sale;

(v)  sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can
be reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads. The costs of development of internally generated
software, products or knowhow that meet the above
recognition criteria are recognised as intangible assets. They
are subject to the same subsequent measurement method as
acquired intangible assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition depending on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired and where allowed
and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every
reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Regular way purchases of financial assets are
recognised on trade date. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the
case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments expire or are
transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred.

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to assess
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such
evidence exists, impairment loss is determined and recognised
based on the classification of the financial asset.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and
transaction cost.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include:

Financial assets held for trading; and

Financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term,
or it is part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that are managed together and for which
there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit
taking. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments or
financial guarantee contracts.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be
designated as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss, except where the embedded derivative
does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear
that separation of the embedded derivative is
prohibited.

Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss if the following
criteria are met:

—  the designation eliminates or significantly reduces
the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the assets or recognising
gains or losses on them on a different basis; or

—  the assets are part of a group of financial assets
which are managed and their performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
a documented risk management strategy and
information about the group of financial assets is
provided internally on that basis to the key
management personnel; or

— the financial asset contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be separately
recorded.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets
included in this category are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Fair
value is determined by reference to active market
transactions or using a valuation technique where no
active market exists. Fair value gain or loss does not
include any dividend or interest earned on these
financial assets. Interest income is recognised in
accordance with the Group's policies in note 2.15 to
these consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, financial assets other than financial
assets through profit or loss are reviewed to determine
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Group about one or more of the following loss events:

Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

It becomes probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

Significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor;

The disappearance of an active market for that financial
assets because of financial difficulties; and

A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHBEME(E)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

28 TREE (&)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets include
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from the group of financial
assets. Such observable data includes but not limited to
adverse changes in the payment status of debtors in the
group and, national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans
and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). The amount of the loss is recognised in
profit or loss of the period in which the impairment occurs.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the
extent that it does not result in a carrying amount of the
financial asset exceeding what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the
impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is
recognised in profit or loss of the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Impairment losses on financial assets other than trade and
other receivables that are stated at amortised cost are written
off against the corresponding assets directly. Where the
recovery of trade and other receivables is considered doubtful
but not remote, the impairment losses for doubtful receivables
are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is
satisfied that recovery of trade and other receivables is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade and other receivables directly and any amounts held in
the allowance account in respect of that receivable are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account are reversed against the
allowance account. Other changes in the allowance account
and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Inventories

TRETHRME (&)
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Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a first in first out basis. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary WEEARN —MREBLBEREP Z(FE
course of business less the estimated cost of completion and BRTERZ TR AR EREER
applicable selling expenses. o
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The Group reviews the condition of inventories at each
reporting date, and make allowance for inventories that
identified as obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable.
The Group carries out the inventory review on a product-by-

product basis and makes allowances by reference to the latest MIRTTT AT IR 4 -
market prices and current market conditions.
2.10 Cash and cash equivalents 210B e RAEEEY
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Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and short term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less EASATSRERASE MR S8
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and BEEZFHRBEN 2 EHSRE T
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. K& -

2.11 Financial liabilities 21N ERMERE
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The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables. They are recognised when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
interest related charges are recognised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 2.18).

TRABENEER T ZETERTT
EUH 3K 5 BART 4% | ERERR o

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

H—ERBEEMBERKER -ER
ABRBERTRZIERFILZ 7 — A
SRABEMIRAK  RBEREZHER

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the KEAENE - FRARARSE RS HK
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the SBARKERRAENMER-EHEA
difference in the respective carrying amount is recognised in & MIBEREE  ZBNaEER -
profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest method.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that
the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or
assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or
a series of payments. Such a determination is made based on
an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of
a lease.

(@

(ii)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight line
basis over the lease terms except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the time pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased assets. Lease
incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rental are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value
of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued, after deducting any transaction costs associated with
the issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit) to
the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to
the equity transaction.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods, rendering of services and
the use by others of the Group's assets yielding interest, net of
returns and discounts. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised as follows:

(a)

(b)

(@}

(d)

Revenue from the sale of hardware products is
recognised on the transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership, which generally coincides with the time
when the goods are delivered to customers and title
has been passed.

Revenue from maintenance service is recognised when
service is rendered.

Revenue from system development and consultancy
services are recognised as revenue by reference to the
stage of completion, provided that the revenue, the
costs incurred and the estimated costs to completion
can be measured reliably. Stage of completion is
established by reference to the costs incurred to date as
compared to the total costs to be incurred under the
transaction or as contract progress confirmed and
accepted by the customers. Provision is made for
foreseeable losses as soon as they are anticipated by the
management. The unearned portion of the revenue
received from system development and consultancy
services are stated as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Impairment on non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, investments
in subsidiaries and goodwill are subject to impairment testing.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life or
those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the asset’s
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less cost of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment
of time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result,
some assets are tested individually for impairment and some
are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill in particular
is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected
to benefit from synergies of the related business combination
and represent the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and
not be larger than an operating segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to
which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the
carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss
is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash generating
unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or
value in use, if determinable.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Impairment on non-financial assets

(Continued)

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount
and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect
of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the
case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

2.17 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Cap.485), for all of its employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
the PRC are required to participate in the central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group's
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed
percentage contributions payable.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

TRETHRME (&)

217 EEER (&)

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

2.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income
earned on the temporary investment of the specific
borrowings, for the acquisition, construction or production of
any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when
incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are being undertaken. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
complete.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the
reporting date. They are calculated according to the tax rates
and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to
current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component
of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be
carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing
taxable temporary differences, will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Company is able to control the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

ancial St

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled
or the asset realised, provided they are enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented net
if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b)  intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities net if, and only if,

(@)  the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHBEME(E)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Segment reporting

2.20 D EPER R

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the executive directors for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group's business
components and for their review of the performance of those
components. The business components in the internal
financial information reported to the executive directors are
determined following the Group’s major product and service
lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

Hardware: Sales of telecommunication and enterprise
hardware products

Services: System development, consultancy and
maintenance service income

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as
each of the product and service lines requires different
resources as well as marketing approaches. All inter-segment
transfers are carried out at arm'’s length prices.

2.21 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of the Group's parent.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

U]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family or a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following new and amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which
are relevant to the Group's operations and effective for the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning
on 1 April 2017:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets

for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12
included in Annual
Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities

The adoption of the amendments to HKFRSs has no material impact
on how the financial performance and financial position for the
current and prior periods have been prepared and presented.

The Group had not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for current accounting period.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs 3. BRAAHEIRRIETE B ERE
(Continued) AR (48)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs %gﬁﬁﬁ@ HARERZEBMERS
7 |

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs have been published
but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the
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Group.
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments' BBMBRELAEIR SBIA
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and BEVBRELNE 155 REEPANZ
the related Amendments’ Yz RABREEET
HKFRS 16 Leases? ERUBHREERF 1657 HE?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts? BEVBRELNE 7SR RBEL?
HK(FRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and 5 (BB BmERE IMNERHERN
Advance Consideration’ ZEE)RBELNR RE'
HK(FRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax BL(EERBRERE MEHEREZ
Treatments? ZE8)2BENN PHETE M2
Amendments to HKFRS 2  Classification and Measurement of BB B RELER B ERRH2
Share-based Payment Transactions' F2H 2B HEREFE
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts' BB B RELER ERE B IS TR s 2R
s d | F4FRBEL—0
RANBBTBRE
ERIFEOFERMT A
Amendments to HKFRS9  Prepayment Features with Negative BB BRELER ABEME RN
Compensation? B9 2 EF] ERE
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between BB B RELER REERERE
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or F0RREBEE NSNS
Joint Venture! RIS 285 2 1BR] HEFFABE"
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and ARG REEE AR kA&
Joint Ventures? F285 2 1E7] ¥ RPER?
Amendments to HKAS40  Transfers of Investment Property’ ??iﬁﬁ”?ﬁ 4057 ERRENE
23
Amendments to HKFRSs As part of the Annual Improvements to BAERBRELR ERZT—NFR
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle' ZIEF] ZE—NFREH
BB BREER
ZEELH#
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs BAEVBERELER —Z-hFE
2015-2017 Cycle? ZIEE] T —FRN
AR BRE

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

BRI 2 F R

! RoZE-NF-A—Baz&RBzFEHRE

B

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 2 RZT—NF—-A—B &R FEHRE
B

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 : RZZEZ—F—A—HEZ®HARZFEHMEE
B

+ Effective date not yet determined ¢ 1R TE AR A A R

EEER AAERIHRMET AR AR
&FE 2 BEME 2 AR EESE BOR &R
e BHREHAKREEHRRERTELZ
Ha] RIEIERT BB B IREEA 2 BRI
s o EAWFTET REERT BB W E LR
BT eHARESAMBHRRENEAY
@,

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be
adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period
beginning on or after the effective date of the pronouncement.
Information on new and amended HKFRSs that are expected to have
impact on the Group's accounting policies is provided below. Other
new and amended HKFRSs are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.



ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”. It makes major changes to the previous guidance on
the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces
an “expected credit loss” model for the impairment of financial
assets.

HKFRS 9 also contains new requirements on the application of
hedge accounting. The new requirements look to align hedge
accounting more closely with entities’ risk management activities by
increasing the eligibility of both hedged items and hedging
instruments and introducing a more principles-based approach to
assessing hedge effectiveness.

The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have a
significant impact on the classification and measurement of its
financial assets, except for equity investments classified as financial
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss are qualified for
designation as measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI") under HKFRS 9 but the Group will not elect this
option for designation at FVTOCI. Therefore, these investments will
be measured at fair value with subsequent fair value gains or losses
to be recognised in profit or loss. Upon initial application of HKFRS 9,
any differences between the previous carrying amount and fair value
will be adjusted to retained profits as at 1 April 2018. For other
financial assets currently measured at amortised cost and fair value
through profit or loss will continue with their respective classification
and measurements upon the adoption of HKFRS 9.
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The new impairment model in HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss”
model in HKAS 39 with an “expected credit loss” model. Under the
expected credit loss model, it will no longer be necessary for a loss
event to occur before an impairment loss is recognised. Instead, an
entity is required to recognise and measure either a 12-month
expected credit loss or a lifetime expected credit loss, depending on
the asset and the facts and circumstances. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, except for those impaired receivables
balances, based on the historical experience and existing business
model of the Group, the default rate of the remaining outstanding
balances with customers is low.

The Group anticipate that the application of HKFRS 9 may have
material impact on the Group's trade receivable of HK$2,044,000
recorded in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements in the
future.

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

HKFRS 15 and the related clarification to HKFRS 15 (hereinafter
referred to as "HKFRS 15") presents new requirements for the
recognition of revenue, replacing HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11
“Construction Contracts”, and several revenue-related
Interpretations. HKFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model
that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to
recognising revenue; at a point in time or overtime. The model
features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to
determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognised.

HKFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2018. Based on the assessment completed to date, the Group has
identified the following areas which are expected to be affected:
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

The Group's revenue recognition policies are disclosed in note 2.15.
Currently, revenue arising from provision of services is recognised
over time, whereas revenue from sale of goods is generally
recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have passed to
the customers.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when customer obtains
control of the promised goods or services in the contract. HKFRS 15
identifies 3 situations in which control of the promised goods or
services is regarded as being transferred over time:

(i) When the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the entity’s performance, as the
entity performs;

(i) When the entity's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example work in progress) that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced;

(i)~ When the entity's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the entity and the entity has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall into any of
these three situations, then under HKFRS 15 the entity recognises
revenue for the sale of that good or service at a single point in time,
being when control has passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership is only one of the indicators that will be considered in
determining when transfer of control occurs.

The Group has assessed that the adoption of HKFRS 15 is not likely to
have significant impact on how revenue is recognised from
contracts.
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Notes to“ e

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”
HKFRS 16 will replace HKAS 17 and three related Interpretations.

As disclosed in note 2.12, currently the Group classifies leases into
finance leases and operating leases and accounts for the lease
arrangements differently, depending on the classification of the
lease. The Group enters into leases as the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that
lessors account for their rights and obligations under a lease.
However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer
distinguish between finance leases and operating leases. Instead,
subject to practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases in a
similar way to current finance lease accounting, i.e. at the
commencement date of the lease, the lessee will recognise a
corresponding “right-of-use” asset. After initial recognition of this
asset and liability, the lessee would recognise interest expense
accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the current policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a
systematic basis over the lease term. As a practical expedient, the
lessee can elect not to apply this accounting model to short-term
leases (i.e. where the lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of
low-value assets, in which case the rental expenses would continue
to be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group's accounting as a lessee of
leases for properties which are currently classified as operating
leases. The application of the new accounting model is expected to
lead to an increase in both assets and liabilities and to impact on the
timing of the expense recognition in the consolidated income
statement over the period of the lease.

As disclosed in note 27, the Group's operating lease commitment as
at 31 March 2018 amounted to HK$182,000. The directors of the
Company do not expect the adoption of HKFRS 16 would result in
significant impact on the Group's results but it is expected that
certain portion of these commitments will be required to recognise
in the consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities.

nsolidated Financial Statement
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below:

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group’s management estimates the provision of impairment of
trade and other receivables (note 18) by assessing their
recoverability. Provisions are applied to trade and other receivables
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible and require the use of estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact carrying value of trade and other receivables and
impairment charge in the period in which such estimate has been
changed. As at 31 March 2018, provision of bad debt in respect of
trade receivables and other receivables are HK$6,124,000 (2017:
HK$2,408,000) and HK$850,000 (2017: HK$3,991,000), respectively.

Allowance for inventories

The Group's management reviews the condition of inventories (note
17) based on their experience and knowledge at each reporting
date, and makes allowance for inventories that are identified as
obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable or suitable for use in
production. The Group carries out the inventory review on a
product-by-product basis and makes allowances by reference to the
latest market prices and current market conditions. As at 31 March
2018, allowance for inventories is HK$11,240,000 (2017:
HK$12,581,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill (note 15) has suffered
any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
note 2.16. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have
been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates about future cash flows and
discount rates. In the process of estimating expected future cash
flows management makes assumptions about future revenues and
profits. These assumptions relate to future events and circumstances.
The actual results may vary and may cause a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of goodwill within the next financial year.
Determining the appropriate discount rate involves estimating the
appropriate adjustment for market risk and for asset specific risk
factors. No impairment of goodwills has recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$3,552,000).

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue once it has been determined that it is
probable the economic benefits will flow to the Group. The Group
estimates the likelihood of the recoverability of the consideration, in
particular for those contracts with progress payments being long
overdue or delayed progress billings.

According to the accounting policy as stated in note 2.15, the Group
uses the percentage of completion (the “POC") method to
determine the appropriate revenues to be recognised from
rendering of system development and consultancy services. The
stage of completion is measured by reference to the actual costs
incurred up to the reporting date as a percentage of total estimated
costs of completion based on management experiences and
estimation or as contract progress confirmed and accepted by the
customers. When the outcome of a POC contract cannot be
estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that it will be probably recoverable.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

WK o EHER

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Continuing operations BEREEE
Revenue: s :
Hardware et 3,462 20,539
Services PR 75
— System development — RE5AE 10,846 7378
— Consultancy — B 2,225 33
— Maintenance — #EE 613 532
— Others — Hty 112 79
13,796 8,022
17,258 28,561

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive directors that are used to make
operating decisions. Executive directors are considered as the chief
operating decision makers (‘CODM").

The CODM review the Group's financial information from hardware
and services perspectives. The reportable segments are classified in a
manner consistent with the information reviewed by the CODM.

The CODM assess the performance of the operating segments based
on a measure of reportable segment profit/(loss). This measurement
basis excludes other income and unallocated expenses.

Segment assets mainly exclude assets that are managed on a
centralised basis. Segment liabilities mainly exclude liabilities that are
managed on a centralised basis.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are based on the
countries in which customers are located, and non-current assets are
based on the countries where the assets are located.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

ancial St

5. @k oHER (&)

(Continued)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2018 are as follows: (EZE )\ F-A=T—HIEFEZDE
RENT :
Hardware Services Unallocated* Total
B R KRB * gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FExT THET FTHERT
Continuing operations BEREER
Revenue from external customers — #ANEE R P A5 2 Wiz 3,462 13,796 = 17,258
Reportable segment (loss)/profit A ERERD 2B (E518), 5 7 (8,211) 2,163 (11,942) (17,990)
Bank interest income HRATH S WA 153
Other income HA 5,134
Loss before income tax BRPTISTLATE B (12,703)
Income tax credit (note 8) FSfiiE & (FizEs) 431
Loss for the year FRERE (12,272)
Depreciation of property, mE - BELRZEITE
plant and equipment 788 152 212 1,152
Amortisation of intangible assets 2 & &= B 54 - - 1 1
Impairment loss on AT &IBERRESE
— trade receivables — EWE 5 IE 3,261 - - 3,261
— other receivables — Hith e dRia 150 - 700 850
Reversal of impairment loss on LTS ENREBERR
— other receivables — H i EUGRIE (1,533) - = (1,533)
— inventories —FE (1,403) - - (1,403)
Loss on written off of property, ME - B MR E
plant and equipment HER R &R 375 - - 375
* Unallocated expenses mainly include operating lease charges in respect of * AOERAZFEZREAEEANEZKEHER

rented premises and headquarter expenses and allowance expenses.
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

5. @k oHER (&)

(Continued)
The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2017 are as follows: HE—ET—+E=RA=1T—HIFEEZHEB
RENT :
Hardware Services  Unallocated* Total
T 1 AR5 KA WBET
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHIT T FHT
Continuing operations BEREEK
Revenue from external customers #E9MNIE % 5 P13 2 W as 20,539 8,022 - 28,561
Reportable segment loss RS EEE (21,451) (5978) (42,649) (70,078)
Bank interest income (restated)  $R1THIEHA (K E5) 350
Other income (restated) HEmPA (EET) 2,695
Loss before income tax K TS Bl Es 18 (67,033)
Income tax expense (note 8) FrisHif sz (f43E8) (251)
Loss for the year FABAE (67,284)
Depreciation of property, ¥ BELREBZINE
plant and equipment 861 - 205 1,066
Amortisation of intangible assets 2 & &= # §5 - - 1 1
Addition to non-current assets IEREE EIER 946 - 55 1,001
Loss on written off of inventories 17 S BR Y E 18 11,712 - - 11,712
Impairment loss on AT EIBR R EEE
— trade receivables — EWE 55K IE 2464 - - 2,464
— other receivables — HAb Y GRIE 3,991 - - 3,991
— intangible assets —EmEEE - 692 - 692
— inventories —FE 12,581 - - 12,581
— goodwill — g 3,552 - - 3,552

Unallocated expenses mainly include operating lease charges in respect of

rented premises and headquarter expenses and allowance expenses.
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2018 are as follows:

5.

WK 2 EHER (&)

R-E-NF=A=+—HBzHBPEERE
BT

Hardware Services Total

B £ it

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET F#&T FHT

Segment assets DEEE 1,759 6,788 8,547
Unallocated assets* ROWMEE" 183,526
Total assets BEE 192,073
Segment liabilities HE AR 101,731 10,185 111,916
Unallocated liabilities* AoEREE 29,660
Total liabilities BmaeRE 141,576

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2017 are as follows:

RIZE—tF=A=+—RZHHEERE
IEEUNNE

Hardware Services Total

AL Pk 75 5T

HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000

FHIT FET FET

Segment assets DEEE 18,445 394 18,839
Unallocated assets* ROBLEE" 174,794
Total assets BEEE 193,633
Segment liabilities HE AR 100,823 4,000 104,823
Unallocated liabilities* AOBRREE 28,200
Total liabilities mak 133,023

Unallocated assets mainly include property, plant and equipment, other
receivables, financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss,
restricted cash, and cash and cash equivalents. Unallocated liabilities mainly

include certain other payables and accruals and tax payable.

* APBEEETEREME  BERSKE  HbE
WHIE - BERATEAARGLERMEE 2
REREARRERREEEY - KOELEED
B EBIEE T HAMREN TR R B B A RE
TR -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

The revenue from external customers of the Group by geographical

WK 2 EHER (&)

REBE IR R & D 2 KB INBEF 2

segments is as follows: WU
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Continuing operations HERSEER
Revenue: Wz
Hong Kong EE - _
PRC Fh 17,258 28,561
17,258 28,561

Five (2017: Four) external customers contribute more than 10%
revenue of the Group. Revenues of approximately HK$17,146,000
(2017: HK$25,222,000) are derived from these customers for the year
ended 31 March 2018. These revenues are attributable to hardware
segment and service segment.

As at 31 March 2018, accounts receivable from these external
customers accounted for 78% (2017: 56%) of the Group's total

accounts receivable.

An analysis of the non-current assets of the Group by geographical

B (ZE—+HF  IR)INIBFERAS
B0 Elm- 22— N\F=A
Zt+t—HBIEFE 917146008 T (=&
—H4F 1252220008 7L) ZWEKEZER
P Zz2E5WaEkad itk RESER -

RoZ—\F=A=+—8  RAREHE
B 2 MR B 7 L B 38 7%

(ZZ—+F : 56%) °

REE BRI R 5 7R8I D 2 IF)

BEESN

segments is as follows: T
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FET

Non-current assets: FREEE :

Hong Kong aE 638 851
PRC i 2,009 1,926
2,647 2777
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OTHER INCOME 6. HAslx A
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FET
Continuing operations BEREEE
Interest income on short-term bank deposits 45 BA$R 1717 3 2 AL 2 UL A 153 350
Investment income from financial assets REFERAFEETA
at fair value through profit or loss BRJEMEEZRERA 1,739 2,275
Reversal of write-down of inventories GFEMRER 1,403 -
Reversal of impairment loss on other H ith & Y RN IE 2 R (B S 18 (o]
receivables 1,533 -
Others HAth 459 420
5,287 3,045
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7. BRETBHAIEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after (crediting)/charging: BRETSBIRIEIBTE (FTA),/ 0k -
2018 2017
—E2-—N\F T —+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Continuing operations FERSEER
Auditor's remuneration 1% SR 357 A 414 681
Cost of inventories sold EHETFERAN 1,806 13,705
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #71% - ME LR EZITE 1,152 1,066
Amortisation of intangible assets | B Y 1 1
Employee benefit expense (note 12) RERBAMAZ (H:E12) 8,430 20,045
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) P& 5 &8, (Was) F58 509 (566)
Operating lease charges in respect of HAMEZKLEHEES
rental premises 370 3,264
Impairment of intangible asset EmAERE - 692
Impairment loss on trade receivables JEUNE 5 78 7w E k12 3,261 2,464
Impairment loss on other receivables At fE YORIA 2 R B B 18 850 3,991
Reversal of write-down of inventories 5 B HOR B El (1,403) -
Reversal of impairment loss on H o R R IE 2 B (B B R [l
other receivables (1,533) -
Write-down of inventories to net WO &= Al #1558
realisable value - 12,581
Impairment of goodwill [GESRE - 3,552
Loss on written off of property, W - BB R EMERAEE
plant and equipment 375 -
Loss on disposal of intangible assets HEEREENEIE - 18
Loss on written off on inventories FEMERNEE - 11,712
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8. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 8. Fi8Hi(E®) Bx

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year BERAEESREHRIBEER MR AEE I E
as the Group had incurred losses for taxation purpose (2017: nil as MEBMEHAIRBE(—ZE—+F : &
the Group had incurred losses for taxation purpose). The PRC AR ANEFREESHIEEE) - FRE T
enterprise income tax has been provided for at the rate of 25% (2017: 103 P15 B3 5T FE AR B R 1 HE 25% (=
25%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. T—HF : 25%) B -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
PRC enterprise income tax RESEFEHR
Current year NEE 538 1,866
Over-provision in prior year BEFEBERE (969) (1615)
Income tax (credit)/expense FrE8 (%) Bx (431) 251
Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting loss at RBRABEFE CMENMAZ kg EEY
the applicable tax rate is as follows: BT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Continuing operations FESEER
Loss before income tax FREFISTIRIEE (12,703) (67,033)
Tax on loss before income tax, calculated BRETISTLATE1BHIE -

at Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% BEBFEBE 16.5%

(2017:16.5%) (ZZ—+tF - 165%) 58 (2,096) (11,059
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAHMBERAST 2 RIgT & 1,192 586
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEZRHRBAZ RIS E (7) )
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERTBEBREZHHEE 2,130 10,444
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses & B 5 B AR FER T 1E E5 18 (173) -
Over-provision in prior years BEFEHBERE (969) (1,615)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMEIEEREEZHERAA

operating in other jurisdictions KATRMER & (508) 1,897
Income tax (credit)/expense FTiSH (%), /B (431) 251
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9. DIVIDENDS 9. RE

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a final EFeUV I ERRNEBEE_E—\F=A
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: nil). =E+—HIEFEZREARE(ZE—tF:
/) o
10. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 10. HEHNE R E
On 14 November 2016, the Group disposed of its entire 100% equity RZZE—RF+—A+WB  A&EBEER
interests in the Joy Epoch Limited together with its subsidiary (Norray 5 B 2 Joy Epoch Limited & [ H i B A 7
Professional Computer Limited) (70% equity interest held by Joy (Norray Professional Computer Limited) ( £ 70%
Epoch Limited) for a cash consideration of HK$100. The net liabilities fi& # B3 Joy Epoch Limited 3§ & ) 2 &6 100% A%
of the disposal group which is mainly within the hardware segment #ReREARI0BT RHERH =
at the date of disposal were as follows: EREHSBANEEREEEFENT
As at
14 November 2016
RZZE—RF
+—A+mA
HK$'000
FET
Gain on disposal, represented by: e - Rk :
Gross proceed from the disposal & 2 TS IB 4858 -
Net liabilities of the disposal group at the RHEERHEEEEZBEFHE
date of disposal 919
Net liabilities attributable to non-controlling interests RSO EFE (173)
Gain on disposal & e 746
Analysis of asset and liabilities over the disposed subsidiaries are as BEHENBRARTSMNNEER BB TN
follows: N
HK$'000
FAT
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEY 266
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E A FEURIE 776
1,042
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB REE 19
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAM N RIE (1,980)
Net liabilities BEFE ©19)
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10. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Analysis of the result of discontinued operations is as follows:

10.

m——

& FH B 2 8] ()
BRI TS 2 SEAIT T -

2017
—Z2—tF
HK$’000
FExT
Revenue Wes 5,675
Expenses % (5,648)
Profit before tax of discontinued operations BRI EEB 2 BRBADE A 27
Income tax expense FriSfiA =
Profit after tax of discontinued operations BRI S T 2 BB B R T 27
Profit for the year from discontinued IATATEAE RIS EER
operations attributable F N A
— Owners of the parent —BAREAA 19
— Non-controlling interests — IERE R 8
27
Cash flows RER
Operating cash flows EEBREN 225
Investment cash flows BEREM =
Financing cash flows BER S =
Total cash flows BIRE R 225

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of the disposal is as follows:

HEFEZ RS RESEEYRAEES T
T -

HK$’000

FHET

Cash consideration received BURESRE =
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B EHEReRRESEED (266)
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR RS ML FE (266)
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11.

12.

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share for the year (from continuing operations) is
calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$8,519,000 (2017: loss of
approximately HK$39,625,000) by the weighted average number of
1,356,250,000 (2017: 1,356,250,000) ordinary shares in issue during
the year.

Diluted loss per share for the years 2018 and 2017 equals to the basic
loss per share as the potential ordinary shares on exercise of warrants
were not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share
because they are anti-dilutive.

No basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operation was
presented for the year 2018 since no discontinued operations arose
in the year.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

1. ERERE
NEEzEREAREE(RABFELEEBE
&) TR R B A FE R B 18 498,519,000
BL(ZE—t % EIE#39625000%8 L)
BRULUFABEFHTEBRMEFY &
1,356,250,000 % ( = & — + 4 : 1,356,250,000
B ETE -

BRI RREE B EBNAR REE
1ER - MG ASRESBRZAER
b ZE-N\FRZEHF2EREES
BRSNERENES -

SR N\FUESFIEKIEE S BB
BARBERIE - R BT
BET -

12. BEEANFEX (BEESHE)

2018 2017

—e-NE —T—tf

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENEMET 7,858 17,291
Pension costs — defined contribution schemes iRK 4 B2 — iE ZE 7 EHEI 572 2,754
8,430 20,045
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12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 12. EEEFHZ(BEEEM L)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (&)

12.1 Directors’ emoluments NRAEEHE
The emoluments of each director, disclosed pursuant to the BIEGEM ETRA - BB ERINF 6225
GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong BB D MEDZE 3830 & R BB EDIE
Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) and Part 2 of the Companies 622GERFI (REESMDER) RO
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) FoWWE T ZEETHEHIINOT -

Regulation (Cap.622G), are set out below:

Employer’s

Salaries, contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits contribution

Fee in kind schemes Total
e Exm
R EREMR
we BRI sTEIftR Eoy
2018 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-N\F FHET FHET TERT TET
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Ho Yeung®®© faEsEE0Q - 550 15 565
Mr. Lam Chi Man® @ EXFEOO - 346 13 359
Mr. Wang Xiaogi® FHEBEEO - 732 - 732
Independent Non-executive directors B IE#7TEE
Ms. Chan Nga Man® BRI+ o 80 - - 80
Mr. Gao Ping® (SRl 40 - - 40
Mr. Lam Wing Keung® MOKGR S @ 82 = = 82
Mr. Lau Chor Ki® WEaEEo 110 - - 110
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony HFE L 120 - - 120
432 1,628 28 2,088
Note iikss
@ Mr. Ho Yeung was appointed on 1 June 2017. @ AFEER_T—EF A —BEEE-
(b)  Mr.Lam Chi Man resigned on 20 December 2017. (b) MEEERZT—EF+_A=THH
£
© Ms. Chan Nga Man was appointed on 1 August 2017 and resigned on 3 © BREZEL TR T —tF/\A—BEST
April 2018. FERZZF— ) \FMHA=HEHIT -
(d) Mr. Gao Ping resigned on 31 July 2017. (d) BEEER_T—+FLA=+—HET -
(e) Mr. Lam Wing Keung resigned on 1 February 2018. (e) MoKBAEER —_Z—N\F_A—BBT-
) Mr. Lau Chor Ki was appointed on 1 June 2017. 0] WRFTER_T—tF A —RAEZE-
@) Emolument of the Directors were borne by the Company and its (©) BEERR A RENBARESEm L2
subsidiaries for their services as director of the Company and its EEZME  HARRIREMBARRE -

subsidiaries.
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12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

12. Fﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁi(@%i%ﬂﬁ)

(a) Mr. Yau Hoi Kin resigned on 26 January 2017.

(b) Mr. Lam Chi Man was appointed on 12 January 2017.

(0 Mr. Hsu Chia Chun retired on 24 August 2016.

(d) Mr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy retired on 30 January 2017.

12.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued) 121 EZE/ € (8)
Employer’s
Salaries,  contribution
allowances to defined
and benefits  contribution
Fee in kind schemes Total
e BEM
R TERHRK
e BVl PRI Bt
2017 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
—E—+F FAT FAT FAT FAT
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Yau Hoi Kin@ TR FE OO - 2,151 15 2,166
Mr. Wang Xiaogi® FRERLLEO - 716 - 716
Mr.Lam Chi Man®® X HEO0 - 106 4 110
Non-executive director HPITEE
Mr. Hsu Chia-Chun® REREEO 38 - - 38
Independent Non-executive directors B FEHTITEE
Dr. Chow Ka Ming, Jimmy®@ B ) 109 - - 109
Dr. Wong Wing Lit® HmEFIE LT 116 - - 116
Mr.Ngan Yu Loong®” EAR BRI LD 104 - - 104
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony WFEEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Gao Ping® (SRt 26 - - 26
Mr. Lam Wing Keung® MoK HE® 26 - - 26
539 2973 19 3,531

(d)

HEREEN T —tF A=+ AR
ﬁ%i%i%:g—tﬁ—ﬂ+:5%§
g%%%i%:?-ﬁﬁﬂﬂ:+ﬂﬁﬁ
g%%ﬁi%:?*tifﬁz+EﬁE°

Mr. Wong Wing Lit retired on 17 February 2017.
Mr. Ngan Yu Loong resigned on 12 January 2017.
Mr. Gao Ping was appointed on 12 January 2017.

Mr. Lam Wing Keung was appointed on 12 January 2017.

Emolument of the Directors were borne by the Company and its
subsidiaries for their services as director of the Company and its

subsidiaries.

@ - ERUEITR T —+F-A++tHRE-

® PAMBEREN T —F—A+-HEHE -

@ EPEERZE—+F-A+-_BEZE-

(hy  MKBREER-ZE—LF-A+_HAEZ
£

0] HRHEARBREMBAREREM 2
EFE AR REMEBARAE -
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12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING

12. BERARMX(BRESEMS)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (Continued) (&)
12.2Five highest paid individuals NR2EEEEMEAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in FAN - AEEBREERNEALTEE

the Group for the year include three (2017: two) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. The emoluments payable to the remaining two (2017:

ZH(CELEF MBEE KE
MEE RN Bty i RER - FRER
TEHMA(ZE—LF: =R)AL

three) individuals during the year are as follows: 2T
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EELREMHE 1,138 3411
Employer’s contributions to defined 1B E A E RE M FRET8I 50
contribution schemes 36 29
1,174 3,440
The emoluments fell within the following bands: Ble N FLAT#E :

Number of individuals

AE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HKS BIT
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 21,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000 7T = 1

During the year, no compensation was paid to the five highest
paid individuals as compensation for loss of office (2017:
HK$1,388,000 were paid to the three of five highest paid
individuals as compensation for loss of office). No emoluments
was paid to the five highest paid individual as inducement to
join the Group (2017: nil).
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. ¥1% - BERRE

Leasehold Plantand Furniture Office
improvements machinery and fixtures equipment Total
HEMERE LT BRREE WARE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TR TER TR TR
At 1April 2016 R-ZEB-REMA-A
Cost B AR 3,660 1,037 1,320 531 6,548
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (1,862) (519) (1,202) (371) (3,954)
Net book amount IREEE 1,798 518 18 160 2,59
Yearended 31 March2017 HZE=-Z—+&
ZA=t-HLHEE
Opening net book amount FHRmFE 1798 518 18 160 2,59
Exchange differences EHER (106) ) (12) &) (124)
Additions NE 438 61 434 68 1,001
Disposals of subsidiaries HEWBAT - - 22) - 22)
Depreciation wE (670) (175) (129 (92) (1,066)
Closing netbookamount ~ FAREEE 1460 402 389 132 2383
At 31 March 2017 and RZE—t&
1 April 2017 ZA=Z+-HRK
“E-t£MA—-H
Cost TN 3548 1,080 660 577 5,865
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (2,088) (679) @n) (445) (3482)
Net book amount IREFE 1,460 402 389 132 2383
Yearended 31 March2018 EHZ=-ZT—-N\&E
ZA=t-HLHE
Opening net book amount FHRmFE 1,460 402 389 132 2,383
Exchange differences EREE 9 3 30 4 131
Write-off R (329) - (1) (45) (375)
Depreciation nE (742) (178) (169) (63) (1,152)
Closing netbookamount ~ FAREFE 483 227 249 28 987
At 31 March 2018 R=B-N\%F
=A=t-H
Cost B AR 3,457 1,088 712 264 5,521
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (2,974) (861) (463) (236) (4,534)
Net book amount REFE 483 227 249 28 987
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. B EE

Development Trademark
costs® costs Total
EE % NG BN st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2016 R=-ZE—RFMA—H
Cost AR 1,126 10 1,136
Accumulated amortisation RETEEE - ) )
Net book amount BREEE 1,126 8 1,134
Year ended 31 March 2017 BE-—ZT—+t&
ZA=+-HLEFE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 1,126 8 1,134
Exchange difference EHER (29) - (29)
Amortisation b - (1) M
Impairment pERIER (692) - (692)
Disposal HE (18) - (18)
Closing net book amount FRIKREFE 387 7 394
At 31 March 2017 and R=-ZZE—tE=A=+—H
1 April 2017 FE—ZE—tFMA—H
Cost AR 387 10 397
Accumulated amortisation Sty - (3) (3)
Net book amount ERMEFE 387 7 394
Year ended 31 March 2018 BE-ZE-N\E
ZA=+-HLEFE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 387 7 394
Amortisation b - (1) (1)
Closing net book amount FAREREFE 387 6 393
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE—-NF=HA=+—H
Cost AR 387 10 397
Accumulated amortisation RETEEE - (4) (4)
Net book amount BREEE 387 6 393
Note P aE
(@ Development costs mainly include online network systems and video software @ FBEXATIZEEMLBERRRTZERET 2

development costs. No amortisation was provided as these intangible assets

were not available for use as at 31 March 2017 and 2018.
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15. GOODWILL

15. HE

The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows: EEZEmFESTOT ¢
2018 2017
BN\ F R
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Net carrying amount at 1 April MU A—RZ R FE 3,552 3,552
Impairment RE (3,552) (3,552)
Net carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZEREEE - -

At end of year RER

Gross and net carrying amount EHEAENEE - -

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is
mainly allocated to the cash generating unit of China Mobile
Payment Technology Group Company Limited under the hardware
segment.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, an impairment loss of
HK$3,552,000 on goodwill was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The
recoverable amount for the cash generating unit was determined
based on value-in use calculations covering a detailed five-year
budget plan followed by an extrapolation of using a zero percent
growth rate and 8% pre-tax discount rate. The assumption of pre-tax
discount rate of 8% represents an estimate of the rate the market
would apply having regard to the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

BEZERMENREMRERR - T2H8D
BB THEXARREEERAR
ZIREELB

REE-ZT—+FEZA=Z+—"HIFE &
AEEEREMEERERERBBRESE
3,552,00087C c WS EEBEMAAIKE S
TR RS F AR T IEEAENEREER
H 7 A ER A 0% 38 & R K2 8% B A B IR R HE
BET MATE IR K gw 2 BERRRETS
BALENG  EEREBHNSEAEKE
EMNEERR
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RMIB AT Z2RE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2018 are as RZE—)/\F=ZA=+—H8 ' ZZEWBEBLAA
follows: BT -
Particulars of issued Principal activities,
Name of company Place of incorporation  and paid up capital Effective percentage holding  place of operation
DEER ML 5 ERTRESREAFE ERBERASN TEXBREXLY
2018 2017

“B-N\F —FTLF

Subsidiaries held directly:
BEWFEZNBAR

China 020 Business Group Co. Limited

FRO0HEEEERAR

Excellent Master Investments Limited

Excellent Master Investments Limited

China Integrated Telecommunications
Group Co. Limited

hERSBAEEERAT

YBDS Multimedia Company Limited

EBSRRERAF

Yunbo Digital Synergy Company Limited

EBEXERALA

Subsidiaries held indirectly:
EEHEZ B R

Able Bloom Technology Limited
FERBRERAT

Pacific Honour Development Limited

BIEBRERAT

Guangzhou YBDS IT Co,, Ltd.

ENEEERMEARLA

The British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong
('BVI')* US$1
KEEAES RAEBEIET 100% 100% REBREER

(REBEZER)) BN

Hong Kong* 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Financing and provision for payroll
and administrative services for
group companies in Hong Kong

BB 1R @K 100% 100% AREEZEERARER
RETH RITBRE
BvI* 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong
USs1
RERAHS IREEIET 100% 100%  REBREERR
.
£ Bk
BVI* 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Online network systems
Us$1 development in Hong Kong
RBETAES IREEIZET 100% 100% REBREELRERS
Hong Kong* 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong
B VR 100% 100%  REBREERR
Hong Kong* 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong
BB VRBRER 100% 100%  REBREERR
Hong Kong* 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong Kong
B VRBRER 100% 100%  HEBREERR
PRC** RMB40,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of system development

services and other value-added
technical consultation services
and hardware-related business in
the PRC

hE ARE 40,0000007C 100% 100%  RPERERGHARREREM
SEERMER RS R
EES
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 16. R B AT ZIRE (&)

Particulars of issued Principal activities,
Name of company Place of incorporation  and paid up capital Effective percentage holding  place of operation
AEER LA 33t 2 ERTREHREAFE ERBRASN TEERREERY
2018 2017
ZBE-N\F  ETtF
China Mobile Payment Technology BVI* 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding in PRC
Group Company Limited USS1 each
REXNHMREEERAT RERUEE REREEIETL 100% 100% R EREER
LR
Hua Strong Network Science and PRC* USD8,000,000 90% 90%  Investment holding in PRCand IT
Technology Limited Company (‘Hua Strong’) network consultation service

FABENRERRAR(EX]) e 8000000% 7T 90% 0% R ERERRREAREAER
BRIRE

Beijing Huagin World Technology PRC* RMB50,000,000 45.9% 459%  Trading of residential gateway

Limited Company (‘Beijing Huaqin") (note) products

EREGRUHEERAF e AR 50,000,000 70 45.9% 459% BEFTHRER

(TmES |) ()

Shenzhen YBDS IT Co,, Ltd. PRC* RMB500,000 100% 100%  Provision of system development
services and other value-added
technical consultation services in
PRC

RTEBESHRAERAR e AR 5000007 100% 100% R ERE AR ERE kA
EERIER RS

* Limited liability company " ﬁf‘ﬁ'/&ﬁ/\

o Wholly foreign owned enterprise ** SrEmARR

Note:  Hua Strong holds 51% interest in Beijing Huagin and hence the Company holds BeE  ERFALREDH 1% - BtARFFAEIL

a 45.9% effective interest in Beijing Huagin. The board of directors of Beijing REHHLNEREER - I REHPESTFI LR
Huaqin is controlled by the Company. Thus, Beijing Huagjin is our subsidiary. AR o E - b REGHABRMNMBAF -

The above table includes subsidiaries of the Company which, in the EERRLEXRFIN 2 AARMBRARIEER

opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year BEANEENBENAEEEEFECEEL

or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. e
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to Beijing
Huagin, the subsidiary of the Group of which the Group has material
non-controlling interest (“NCI”). The summarised financial
information presented below represents the amounts before any
inter-company elimination.

16. RIBAR2&RE ()
TRIMBBLREY (FEBEE SR
PR ([ SRR ) 2B AR) 2 &
Ko LT FISZ B ARHE R R ITEM A
ARMAT 2 S8 -

2018 2017
—E-NE —T—if
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
NCI percentage EERRER AL 54.1% 54.1%
Non-current assets ERBEE 582 1,636
Current assets RENEE 84,691 82,789
Current liabilities wREBaE (107,890) (97,942)
Net liabilities BEFE (22,617) (13,517)
Carrying amount of NCI FEERR R R E (12,236) (7,313)
Revenue Uz 3,462 10,186
Loss for the year FAEE (7,207) (49611)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRNEEASLE (9,100) (50,807)
Net loss for the year attributable to NC| FEVEAR s FEAE F NS I8 F B (3,899) (26,839)
Total comprehensive expenses for the IR s RS 2 A AT
year attributed to NCI (4,923) (27,487)
Dividend paid to non controlling interest ST IR R 2 RS - -
Net cash used in operating activities KEEBEA RS FRE 1,178 (19,969)
Net cash from investing activities WEEYEE RS TR 35,829 3,383

Deemed disposal and acquisition of investment in
a subsidiary, Shenzhen Anxin

Pursuant to a Capital Increase Agreement, Dynamic Telecom Limited
(‘“Dynamic”) and Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co.,
Ltd. ("CITIC Cyber") agreed to subscribe for 40% registered capital of
RMB12,000,000 in Shenzhen Anxin Certification System Co., Ltd.
("Shenzhen Anxin"), a subsidiary of the Company. The registration
of new shareholders was completed in October 2017.

Up to 28 February 2018, Dynamic and CITIC Cyber did not pay their
respective subscribed registered capital. As of 28 February 2018, the
Group entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with Dynamic
and CITIC Cyber to acquire their equity interests in Shenzhen Anxin
for a consideration of RMBT1. The transaction and registration of
transfer of shareholding were completed in March 2018. The effect
of deemed disposal of 40% equity interest and subsequent
acquisition of same 40% equity interest is immaterial to the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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17.

18.

INVENTORIES 17. EE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#&x FHET

(restated)

(K &%)

Finished goods — residential gateway products ZLAk f —{E E48 M@ E T 11,240 12,581

Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving [RE B S S B

inventories (11,240) (12,581)

Part of the allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventories of
HK$ 1,403,000 for prior year was reversed as some residential gateway
products were sold during the year.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2D

ETETHEHERECREALE - 808

FFEERNIBOPRE X7 S 1,403,000
BB A o

18. EZ RHMEWRIE

2018 2017
—B-NF T LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Trade receivables JEWE 55K IA 8,154 18,445
Prepayments, deposits and other AR -« 'e REAM
receivables @ ®© M FRIA @ 0O 38,054 1,999
46,208 20,444
Note LS
) Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2018 is a provision for impairment () R -E-NF=ZA=+-BNERBELM

of other receivables of HK$3,559,000 (2017: HK$3,901,000). During the year,
impairment loss of HK$850,000 (2017: HK$3,991,000) have been recognised due
to one of our service contracts was terminated, and reversal of impairment loss
in prior year of HK$1,533,000 (2017: HKSnil) have been recognised as part of the
repayment amount impaired in prior years was received during the year.

(b) Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2018 is an amount due from a
third party — A Il 7 22 #3815 B R 2 8] of HK$8,278,000 (2017: HKSnil). Of
amount due, HK$5,848,000 is unsecured, interest bearing at 1% per annum and
repayable on demand and the remaining amount of HK$2,430,000 is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

(©) Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2018 is an amount due from a
third party — AT EFREFE AR Q) of HK$18,742,000 (2017: HKSnil)
which is unsecured, interest bearing at 1% per annum and repayable on 31
March 2019.

JRE UK TR TB 1B B 13,559,000 ST (—Z B — £ 4 -
3901000770 ) » MAE RN - B iR EESE
85000078 7L (= Z — -+ 4F : 399100078 7T) * REA
REP—BRBAENVESRIL  REERBAF
ERE R BRI 1,533,000 8T (=T —+F : T
7T) - RERFANBEWEIRBEFERENHRER

DB o

R NE=ZA=t+—BNESBEREK
=5 RYIT 2= BB (= A BR A 7] #Y FKIE 8,278,000
BR(ZE—LF:THT) BREFKEFK
5,848,000 8 7T R - IRFEF K 195t B RAR
TRAFEIE - MR T #92,430,00058 7T Bl A K3 -
B RBRERKEHEIE o

PR =ZZ—- N\F=ZA=+—HNEHRBEERRK
FEZHAFVITEFRBEMEERAAIMNKE
1874200087 (Z T —+F : T/) - BRAZE
BRI IREFRI1%5E - BARZZ—NF
=A=+—HHEE-
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The credit period granted by the Group to its customers generally
ranged from 0 to 120 days (2017: 0 to 120 days). At the reporting
date, the ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables (net of
provision for impaired receivables) based on invoice date is as

18. E5 R HMEWE ()

AEEBREFEFZBREH KN TFoz
120B(ZZE—+HF:0&81208) - RHREH
B REERWE SFE(NBREKRRIEZ
RERE) IR ERRBEONNT ¢

follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
0-30 days 0-30H 6,110 364
31-60 days 31-60 H - 22
61-90 days 61-90 H - 215
91-180 days 91-180 H - 7,864
181-365 days 181-365 H - 460
Over 365 days B 365 H 2,044 9,520
8,154 18,445
The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables EWE SRIEREREZSHINT
is as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Balance at the beginning of the year FEE (2,408) -
Provision for the year FREME (3,261) (2,464)
Exchange realignment VE A% (455) 56
Balances at the end of the year FuREE (6,124) (2,408)
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables based on due
date is as follows:

18. E5 R HMEWE ()

AEBEREWE SFIBRINAR 2RE ST
T

2018 2017

—E-NF —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Neither past due nor impaired ESabip)E 6,110 364
1-30 days past due #HI1-30 = 23
31-60 days past due #HA31-60 B - 215
61-90 days past due #HI61-90 H - 5,564
91-180 days past due @mHI91-180 A - 2,299
181-365 days past due #HI181-365 H - 460
Over 365 days past due 0 BRR 3R 365 A 2,044 9,520
2,044 18,081

8,154 18,445

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to
customers for whom there were no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to
customers that have a good track record of credit with the Group.

As at 31 March 2018, HK$3,261,000 of provision for impairment was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (2017: HK$2,464,000) because of lost of
customers’ contacts. The impairment was firstly assessed individually
for individual significant or long outstanding balances, and the
remaining balances were grouped for collective assessment
according to their ageing and historical default rates as these
customers were of similar credit risk characteristics.

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying values of the
Group’s trade and other receivables are considered to be a
reasonable approximation of fair values. The other receivables were
neither past due nor impaired. The Group did not hold any collateral
as security or other credit enhancements over the trade and other
receivables.

IR 780 HA 7 488 OB (L W R TR R EA I R R
R EF - CEBEERE 2 BRI
REREEBERFERLHBEZES °

R-ZZE-NFZA=+—HB  BEEHLER
o H Ath 2 IR 35 R SR R (B 8455 3,261,000 78
TT(ZZT—+%F : 2464000/870) © REAZE
BPKRAELE - BEELEHEANEANNKE
REBEHETERTG 8 TEHRARE
HIER BT RZEELGEATE  REA
hEREFEEHEENERRBRITE -

PRESRARE Bt AEE B 5 RE
WA 2 RE ARG A A FECEED
B o AT RY BB ERE - A
30 8 k% B 5 o E A e WO IR IS A (A
B AERIEER
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19.

20.

FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR

19. EERQAFPEFABEZEHE

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS J=3
2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—+fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Wealth management products EEE M 24,365 40,590

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had short term investments linked
wealth management products that were denominated in RMB
19,500,000 (equivalent to HK$24,365,000) (2017: RMB 36,000,000
(equivalent to HK$40,590,000)) with banks.

Interest rates of the wealth management products vary depending
on the return rate of the relevant short term bonds, money market
investment fund and bank deposits.

Wealth management products are carried at fair value and their
dealing price is derived from net asset values of the investment
funds with reference to observable quoted price of underlying
investment portfolio in active markets and inputs other than quoted
market price for respective wealth management products (note
29.3).

R-ZZE—NFZA=+—H8 ' AEEHIRTT
AR ERE BV ER  MBEAR
¥ 19,500,000 7C (48 & 52 24,365,000 78 ) (=
T — L F: AR 360000007 (18 E ©
40,590,00078 7)) °

BMEMZMERFHEBENES %™
BRERES RRITFERZMRKRMmE -

BYEREAFENE  MEMNZSET
SLEREFRMISNABREAHAANTEER
BRAEEEMBR T MSREININEA
BiE HEEESZEEFESH(ME
293) °

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. RERBEEEY
2018 2017
—E-NEF —E—tF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
Fi#T FHT
Cash at banks and in hand RITEFEREFERS 76,790 129,822

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$42,174,000 (2017: HK$92,585,000) which were
denominated in Renminbi. The remittance of these funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the
PRC government.
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

21.

The changes in the Company’s liabilities arising from financing
activities are classified as follows:

20. RERBEZEY (&)
MEEHELEZEEHER

ARARMEEDEE? BEEDHFEMT -

Non-cash
As at changes — As at
1 April Financing exchange 31 March
2017 cash flow difference 2018
RZF—+F & IR E R-B—N\F
mE—A Rere —EREE =ZA=t-H
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT TERT
Other payables E M FUR
— Advance from a director —RE—ZEEZBN 2817 - 304 3,121
— Amount due to It FIm B B3% — Bt RS EE

BERRBRAA BEBRBROAFE 11,275 - 1,220 12,495
14,092 - 1,524 15,616

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. EZREMENRIEA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade payables 8B S8 111,046 100,407
Other payables and accruals @ H b e~ FA M BT B F 00 29,139 26,368
Sales deposits received BUHERS 869 4418
141,054 131,693

Note

(a)

(b)

Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2018 is the amount of
HK$3,121,000 (2017: HK$2,817,000) due to Mr. Ho Yeung, a director of the
Company. The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2018 is the amount of
HK$194,000 (2017: HK$194,000) due to Mr. Chan Foo Wing, the ultimate
beneficial owner of the Company. The amount due is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Included in the above balances as of 31 March 2018 is the amount of
HK$12,495,000 (2017: HK$11,275,000) due to a third party company, 1t 3 i %5
18 3% @ 4 B £ A B 2 7). The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

i3

(a)

TR -E-NEFEZ A=+ ANESREIERER
AN B E B R FSRAEMRIESI210008 T (ZF
—+4F : 2817,000/87T) o FZIEMFKIEAEEA -
R B RBEREREEE -

TR ZE-N\FZ A=+ ANESRRIERT
AR E o5 A AR E 8858 £ H 5K 194,000
BIL(ZT—HF 1 1940008 7T)  ZEMKER
IR RERAREREEE -

TR T NFZA=Z+—ANEHBIEEN
F=FRRAERHEEEMERRERATMNN
1812,495,00078 70 ( =T —+4F : 11,275000/87C) °
ZENFBERERR RS RBREREERE -
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, all trade and other payables are short
term and hence the carrying values of the Group's trade and other
payables are considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair
value.

The Group was granted by its suppliers credit periods ranging from
30-180 days. Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the
trade payables were as follows:

21. E5 REMENRE (F)
RZE-NFR-_ZT—tF=A=+—H"
FEE S REMENRERES  HAEE
B2 REMBN A REEREARAT
fErEE -

AEEEHRERE THRERENT302180
H - ENEZHEREZHHNERE ST
T

2018 2017

—Z2-N\F —ET—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

0-30 days 0-30H 4,225 -
31-60 days 31-60 H = -
61-90 days 61-90 H - -
91-180 days 91-180 H - 9,537
181-365 days 181-365 H - 19,541
Over 365 days B8 365 H 106,821 71,329
111,046 100,407
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22. SHARE CAPITAL 22, R
Authorised Ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each
SREMEO.10B T ZEEERER
Number of shares
(in thousands) HK$’000
KRGOEE (FR) FET
As at 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 RZZE—RFMNA—H -
1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 —T—+F=A=+—8"
T—+FMHA—AK
—E-N\F=ZA=+—H 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid Ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each
BREEO.107BTZ
ERITRBEEBER
Number of shares
(in thousands) HK$’000
RGBEE (FR) FHET
As at 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 RZE—RFMWA—AH -
1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 —tF=A=+—8"
—E—tFHA—HRK
—E-NF=ZA=+—H 1,356,250 135,625
30,000,000 warrants issued on 4 June 2012 and 60,000,000 warrants KT —ZF ;X A0 HE 47 230,000,000
issued on 26 July 2012 have initial subscription prices of HK$0.185 REEFRN B F A +XBET

per share and HK$0.141 per share respectively for one ordinary share
of the Company exercisable for a period of five years. As at 31 March

Z.60,000,0007 RAXEE AN T — R E B
MR 2 ) S RBES B AR 0.185
BTLRERBMH 0141 E T ZERREFE

2017:90,000,000 warrants remained unexercised. Up to 26 July 2017,
90,000,000 warrants were expired and the warrant holders had not
exercised any of the subscription rights attached to the warrants. As
at 31 March 2018, there is no outstanding warrants issued by the
Company.

ZITESHAREF N_E—+E=A=+—
EI 9ooooooofﬁwﬁﬁfr2*‘ HWMAITE - BEE

—+tF+ A=+ 75H ' 9000000017 R
h$ FEE - MRREZFB ALRITER
IRIEBEWE 2 EMREE R —\F=
H + B QR E I ARITE R

H

EFRHERAR / T )\FERSE 131



23. SHARE OPTIONS

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an annual general
meeting of the Company held on 1 August 2011 (“Adoption Date”),
the Company adopted the new share option scheme (“New
Scheme’) on the Adoption Date. The major terms of the New
Scheme are summarised as follows:

(a)

The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group.

The participants include any employee or consultant, advisor,
agent, contractor, client or supplier of the Company or any
subsidiary who in the sole opinion of the board of directors
have contributed or are expected to contribute to the Group
("Participant”).

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the New Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregated exceed 30% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The initial total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group) to
be granted under the scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issued at the day on which the New Scheme is
approved and such limit might be refreshed by shareholders
in general meeting.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the New
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group to
each Participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being
(the “Individual Limit"). Any further grant of options in excess
of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant shall be subject to the
issue of a circular to the shareholders and the shareholders’
approval in general meeting of the Company with such
Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

()

U]

Unless the directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, a grantee is not
required to achieve any performance targets before any
options granted under the New Scheme can be exercised.

An offer of the grant of the option may be accepted by a
Participant within 28 days from the date of the offer of grant of
the option. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an option.

The subscription price for shares under the New Scheme will
be a price determined by the directors, but shall not be less
than the higher of:

the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of the
offer of grant, which must be a business day;

the average closing price of shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant;
and

the nominal value of the shares.
The New Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years

commencing on the date on which the New Scheme is
adopted.

No share options were granted by the Company or outstanding at
anytime during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: nil).

23. BB E (E)

M BRIFEF
BRHBREZNRIE - BRFERA

SITRELERARARE

BAGTERBHFEMELEMNE
BAERITE R EREARREE -

@ ZHEALERNEHBRBENEHE
H8ENBEMBELERESD - BH
R 2 BB AR BT R
HAAE o

Q) %)TEJrilJIETHﬁTﬁJ‘Zwﬁ%f’;H%HHi?%
E - ENRER TIIRIEZ &
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24, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

24, R AR RFR

COMPANY
2018 2017
—B-N\F —T—+fF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB RERE 46 100
Investments in subsidiaries BB RRZIZE 10,778 79,579
10,824 79,679
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FBf 3B & R E b UGB 686 685
Cash and cash equivalents B RIBEEEY 21,779 28,132
22,465 28817
Current liabilities =R
Other payables and accruals H g FRIARERE R 300 213
Net current assets REBEEFE 22,165 28,604
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 32,989 108,283
Net assets EEZE 32,989 108,283
Equity e
Equity attributable to the owners of RATEE AELER
the Company
Share capital A% 2 135,625 135,625
Reserves (note) it (MEEE) (102,636) (27,342)
Total equity B 32,989 108,283
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Yeung
-3 Cp=S
Director Director
E EEd
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24. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE = 24. A B4R R E ()

25.

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: Hsr
The movement of the Company's reserves are as follows: RATRIZBEEEESHOT -
Share Warrant Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses reserves
R EE RBRERRE E-Sy BEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FER FHET
As at 1 April 2016 RZE—RFMA—H 101,852 900 (126,347) (23,595)
Loss for the year FREE - - (3,747) (3,747)
Total comprehensive expense FRE2EMSAE
for the year - - (3,747) (3,747)
Asat31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017  R-ZE—+&=A=+—AK
—Z—+FWA—H 101,852 900 (130,094) (27,342)
Loss for the year FRER - - (75,294) (75,294)
Total comprehensive expense FANEEMZERE
for the year - - (75,294 (75,294
Release upon expiry of warrants T TR e 5 i T B AR B
(note 22) (Bt 22) - (900) 900 -
As at 31 March 2018 R=ZZB-NF=ZA=+—H 101,852 - (204,488) (102,636)

RESERVES
(a) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company’s shares over its par value.

(b) Warrant reserve

Warrant reserve represents the unexercised equity element of

warrants issued by the Company.

(c) Translation reserve

The translation reserve of the Group comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt

25, f#1E
(a) KPR E
B9 B FE BT A A R B8 2]
SBERREEEES 5 -

(b) RREFHE

RIKERE TR AN R R BT 2 RRHE
BZARITEESE D ©

(0 Rif#E
REE BB EREEINER
CHBRRAELNAERER - (4
(I RE 24 FRBL & S BURBR TR -

with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note

24.
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26.

27.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX
Deferred income tax liabilities:

No deferred income tax liabilities have been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group did not have material
temporary difference arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Deferred income tax assets:

No deferred income tax assets have not been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of tax losses available to
offset future profits due to the uncertainty of future profit streams
against which the asset can be utilised. At the reporting dates, the
unrecognised tax losses of the Group are as follows:

26. EIEFFBH
EEFEHAE
HRAEER -~ \ER-F—+F=7
St+-BrBEREEIHERAEEEY
P A A AR AE - UL NS
B RENERET SR A -

BEEREHERE !

MR REEHEE FI B A& B 2 AR MR -
Bl LN SR AR S B S R 2% R L T AR VR 8H R
Hm A2 BB B EERELEFSHEE -
RBEBH  AEBEZ KBATEEBD
T

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Tax losses Ik E 100,923 90,877

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
As lessee

At the reporting dates, the total future minimum lease payments
payable by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases in
respect of rented premises and equipment are as follows:

27. REHERIE
EBAMEA

RifE R AEEREABHEAYE MK
ez TAREEEXHEZ AREN 2 &EHE
SR

2018 2017

—B-N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FET

Within one year —FR 182 184

The Group leases a number of premises and equipment under
operating leases. The leases run for an initial period of one year (2017:
one year), with an option to renew the leases and renegotiate the
terms at the expiry date.
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28.

29.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 28. EARS
During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group has not (Z2 T - \FRZE—+tF=H=+—H
entered into significant transactions with related parties other than IEFE - BRRWE 18R 21FTIHEEIN - &
those disclosed in notes 18 and 21. SEBEEEERIIVEARS ©
No transactions have been entered with the directors of the SAART FE 121 BT BE AR B R M 2 =B S S A
Company (being the key management personnel) during the year S(EITXZEEEEBAEMND) I RERAHE
other than the emoluments paid to them (being the key HEANREZ(AEEEEEAE )BTRS ©
management personnel compensation) as disclosed in note 12.1.
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. IKEMEER ATEFE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market AEBERIZHAE ZEYHER - TIHR
risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and price risk), B (B IEINER - FERER RKEEER)
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management EERM EREERMS o NER 2 EEER R
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and EIRAE NEREN TS 2 A
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial KRS RN EE T B RIS L 2 EE LT
performance. 7
29.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 2.1 cRMEERAEZER
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated RIFEUBRRREN ZERERT
statement of financial position relate to the following emEERSHBERRER
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Financial assets SHEE
Loans and receivables B RENIE
— Trade and other receivables E%&E’r&ﬂgl&m 44,531 20,194
— Cash and bank balances —Be MBEITES 76,790 129,822
— Restricted cash — XRHIRE 42,063 -
163,384 150,016
Financial assets designated EEZ N FEGABZS
at fair value through profit or loss THEE
Wealth management products BEEm 24,365 40,590
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

29.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

29. BHEREER D FEE (&)

291 EREEREBZ2EA ()

(Continued)
2018 2017
—E2-—N\F —ET—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHER FAET
Financial liabilities SEMAasE
Financial liabilities measured HBEK ARG EZ
at amortised cost TEEE
— Trade and other payables — B 5 REMERFRIE 139,231 125,884
29.2 Financial risk factors 29.2 i B E =

Exposure to market risk (including foreign exchange risks,
interest rate risks and price risks), credit risk and liquidity risk
arises in the normal course of business. The risks are minimised
by the financial management policies and practices described
below:

Market Risk

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk mainly arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

The management of the Group considers the foreign
exchange risk of the Group is not significant, and thus
does not have any active policies to hedge against the
foreign exchange risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group
is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk as the
Group has not held any financial assets that were
committed to floating interest rates.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

29.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market Risk (Continued)

(iii)

Price risk

Price risk relates to the risk that the fair values or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than
changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates).
The Group has significant exposure to price risk as the
Group currently has certain financial assets designated
at fair value through profit or loss exposed to market
price.

The Group’s price risk exposure is summarised as
follows:

29. BHEREER D FEE (&)

20.2 (i B R E & (&)
SR ()

(iii)

B1&
EHeMIARATEIRESRSE
Rz B ERETSERES
A FTRE - mRASKE B B
BETRMSERIDNEER
BRAVHEFARGECSREE
BASEAZEXNERRR

AEEWERRBRBLNT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —+F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets designated EERRATLETA
at fair value through profitorloss EXZE¢@MEE
Wealth management products B E M 24,365 40,590

At 31 March 2018, if market price at that date had been
25 basis points (2017: 25 basis points) higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, profit after tax for the
year would increase/decrease by HK$46,000 (2017:
increase/decrease by HK$76,000) and other
comprehensive income would decrease/increase by
HKSnil (2017: decrease/increase by HKSnil).

In the opinion of the management the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the price risk as the year
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

ETREBARRAR / =F

RZE—NF=ZA=+—H "
& BB ERE MR 25 EE
(=T — & 25 @A) - M
FTEEMEHEIFTTE  FAK
T 18 5% | #5388 Rl 4> 46,000 7
T(ZE—+EF: %, R
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

29.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss and bank balances.

The Group'’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, management has delegated a
team to be responsible for the determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, management reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade and other receivables regularly to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable amounts.

As at 31 March 2017 and 2018, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 48% and 75% of the total trade receivables are
due from the Group's largest trade debtor, respectively. The
management of the Group considered that the credit risk of
amounts due from the customer is insignificant after
considering their historical settlement record, credit quality
and financial position.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group's
time deposits and bank balances are deposited with banks of
high credit ratings in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

29.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and marketable securities. The Group regularly
reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it has
adequate financial resources in meeting its financial
obligations.

The following tables detail the Group's contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

29. BHEREER D FEE (&)

29.2 B E g & (&)

RBESEE

BERZRBECEBRERE - BRESR
FRZAEhEBRES ARETEH
EREIEESMN  BREARR
BHERARERITEMBEEZS
=

TREIIAKE 2 RBESOFHY -
FZRDBEAEERATRELEES
RAENsFARNERBERART
RRSRERE - ZARBENERAE
TRERE °

Total Carrying
undiscounted amount at
Within 1 year cash flow 31 March
AFE R=A=t+—H
—FR HERBE ZBREE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FERT TFE T FET
2018 —E-N\F
Non-derivative FTESHEE
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables B REHMENFE 139,231 139,231 139,231
2017 —E—+F
Non-derivative ETESmAE
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERRIE 125,884 125,884 125,884

As at 31 March 2018, the Group did not have any derivative
financial liabilities (2017: nil).

RZE-NF=ZA=+—8  A&H
YEERTESRAE(ZT—£F:
&) -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

29.3 Financial assets and liabilities measured at

29. BHEREER D FEE (&)

93RDNFEFECZEREERE

fair value

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three
levels based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used
in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
the fair value hierarchy as follows:

&

TREJREQFERE  ARFE
FARAMBIMRAKRZEREERA
Bt REREIELFEREER
BEZAFEMERAZEEHARIE
ZHEEAEE SEMEERAERS
DREE - AHERBDRUATEE -

F1E: HREERBENERTSEZ
HECREHE)

F2E  MEEKEEMERE(BIER)
KT (AR BHREE) ATE
RZBABB(TREFE
eaz®E &

F3[E  WIHRBABR ZTI5HEM
BHZEERABEH ABUE
(BB

TREELAEEBAERAZAYF
BRBAZEBR  HERE R FER
EBEAZKEERBABEE D -

RZEHBHRRRAERFEFEZ
EREERABNEAD /AT ZAF
EZRHE -

Level 2
E2E
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Assets BE
Financial assets designated EEEAFEFTA
at fair value through profit or loss: BEomMEE
Wealth management products IBEE M 24,365 40,590
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

29.3 Financial assets and liabilities measured at

29. BHEREER D FEE (&)

93RDNFEFECZEREERE

fair value (Continued)

Some of the wealth management products are not publicly
traded, the fair values presented are determined by calculating
the present value of the estimated cash flows upon maturity
of these financial assets. Future cash flows are estimated based
on the contracted interest rates, discounted at a rate that
reflects the credit risk of the Group or the counterparties, as
appropriate. Interest rates of these wealth management
products vary depending on the return rate of the relevant
short term bonds, money market investment fund and bank
deposits.

Some of the wealth management products are derived from
net asset values of the investment funds with reference to
observable quoted price of underlying investment portfolio in
active markets.

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2, and 3 during the
year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

29.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the financial instruments carried at
amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values
asat 31 March 2018 and 2017.
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30.

31.

32.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for equity holders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity holders, return capital
to equity holders, issue new shares or reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as a percentage of bank borrowings and long-term
debts over total equity. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’, as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

As at 31 March 2017 and 2018, the Group's gearing ratio was not
presented as the Group has no bank borrowing and long-term
debts.

LITIGATION

As of 31 March 2018, a subsidiary of the Company, Beijing Huagin
was involved in material litigation that a supplier of Beijing Huagin
filed a litigation with No.1 Intermediate People’s Court of Shanghai
Municipality against Beijing Huagin for compensation on default in
payment due to the disagreement of the goods' quantity delivered.

The alleged amount involved in the litigation was default payment
for the supply of goods of HK$100,669,000 (2017: HK$90,840,000)
(equivalent to RMB80,568,000) which was recorded in trade payables.
As at 31 March 2018, bank balance of HK$42,063,000 (equivalent to
RMB33,664,000) was restricted due to the litigation.

The Company’s PRC solicitor is of the view that, as the case had not
yet been proceeded to the stage of substantive hearing, so far
Beijing Huagin was unable to gain full access to the related
evidences submitted by the plaintiff concerning the dispute on the
transaction, including the quantity of goods being supplied and
settlement status. Therefore, the judgement involved in the litigation
remained uncertain and as a result, charges on late payment as
requested by the plaintiff is not provided in the financial statements.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparatives figures has been reclassified and restated in
order to conform with the current year presentation.
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